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LETTER FROM  

THE CHAIR OF THE BOARD

On behalf of the Provident10 Board of Directors, I am honoured to present the 2018 Annual Report for the 

fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. This report provides details on the financial health of the Plan, a 

comprehensive review of investment activities, and an overview of the Corporation’s activities.

2018 was an eventful year for the Board as we further strengthened the relationships between ourselves, 

the Sponsor Body, and the Provident10 Executive Leadership Team. Each group plays an important role in 

the successful management and sustainability of the PSPP. This year, we worked together, and with our 

investment consultant, to conduct an asset liability modelling study.

An asset liability modelling study is the first step in establishing the Plan’s new strategic asset mix policy, 

the goal of which is to improve the risk and return profile of the Plan as we move towards our goal of a 

fully funded plan by 2045. Implementation of the new strategic asset mix will begin in 2019. 

I would like to acknowledge a change in Board membership in 2018. Last year, we welcomed Louise Poirier-

Landry and Michelle Jewer to our Board. Louise and Michelle both have extensive expertise and experience, 

which will complement the Board and our Strategic Directions. As we welcome Louise and Michelle, we say 

good-bye to Ann Marie Miller, David Jones, and Jocelyn Perry. I’d like to extend my thanks to Ann Marie, 

David, and Jocelyn for their dedication and service to the Board and the Corporation during their tenure. Their 

contributions played a significant role in our success, for which we owe them many thanks. 

I extend my thanks to the Board, staff, and Executive for their support, dedication, and contributions 

throughout 2018, and I look forward to continuing our work in 2019.

The year ahead promises to be as eventful as the last and I look forward to working with the Board, the 

Sponsor Body, and the entire Provident10 team as we build a solid, sustainable pension plan for our plan 

members and plan sponsors now, and into the future.

Bert Blundon 
CHAIR OF THE BOARD



LETTER FROM  

THE CEO

“Momentum is Everything” is an apt title for our 2018 Annual Report. Energized after an exciting first year 

in operation, we hit the ground running in January 2018 with big plans for the year ahead. 

At the end of 2017, we introduced our 2018-2020 Strategic Plan. The plan is anchored by these five 

strategic directions: to Enrich the Member Experience, to Attract, Develop, and Retain Talent, to Establish 

and Promote the Provident10 Brand, to Create a Scalable Organization, and to Build a Sustainable 

Pension Fund. Over the next three years, our Strategic Plan and these five strategic directions will guide 

our activities and determine our priorities. 

Of our five strategic directions, our core focus is to enrich the member experience. In 2018, we 

committed to investing in processes, training, and tools that would benefit the plan member. We 

implemented targeted service standards to ensure plan member communication is timely, we provided 

our team members with training opportunities to advance their member service skills, and we created a 

video about the Annual Pension Statements to help plan members better understand that information.

In 2018, we also conducted an asset liability modelling study, enhanced our cyber security program, 

began our Enterprise Risk Management Framework journey, and successfully transitioned over 4,000 

pensioners to our new payroll provider.

While 2018 was a year of growth for Provident10, challenging market conditions resulted in the Public 

Service Pension Plan Fund experiencing a loss. However, despite this challenging market, the Plan once 

again outperformed the policy benchmark. 

I am proud of our team at Provident10 for their commitment to our goals over the last year. I’m impressed with 

what we have accomplished together and look forward to the achievements this momentum will bring in 2019.

Chuck Bruce 

CEO
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OUR 
PROGRESS
AS THE PLAN ADMINISTRATOR FOR THE PUBLIC SERVICE PENSION PLAN (PSPP), THE LARGEST 

PENSION PLAN IN NEWFOUNDLAND AND LABRADOR, WE KNOW HOW IMPORTANT THE FUTURE 

IS TO OUR 55,000 PLAN MEMBERS. 

The future is just as important to us. Tomorrow is full of possibilities, and so we are focusing on 

sustainability and processes today to make sure we get there. We took big steps forward in 2018, 

investing in key activities to fulfill our commitment to plan members and stakeholders.

HERE ARE THE HIGHLIGHTS: 

1. Completed year one of our 2018–2020 

Strategic Plan, setting our direction for the 

next three years.

2.  Invested in improving the plan member 

experience by implementing targeted service 

standards, continuing to address outstanding 

transactions, and training team members 

in how to deliver a better plan member 

experience. 

3. Started the journey of our Enterprise Risk 

Management Framework to ensure we 

are routinely assessing and addressing 

enterprise-wide risks to better manage  

the business. 

4.   Added an additional layer of protection to 

our cyber security program by completing 

the first year of a three-year Security 

Improvement Program.

5.  Created a video to help everyone better 

understand their Annual Pension Statements.

6.  Began the transition of pensioner payroll  

to a new service provider.

7.  Conducted an asset liability modelling study 

to ensure the Plan’s investment strategy is 

aligned with our goals. You can read more 

about the asset liability modelling study in 

the Investment section.

pro-vi-dent 
adjective

Making or indicative of timely 

preparation for the future.
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THE PATH FORWARD: 2018–2020 STRATEGIC DIRECTION 

Our three-year strategic plan establishes our commitment to serving our plan members and 
building a sustainable pension fund. 

OUR CORE PURPOSE IS SIMPLE: TO 

ENRICH THE MEMBER EXPERIENCE. 

IN EVERYTHING WE DO, WE STRIVE 

TO PROVIDE PLAN MEMBERS WITH A 

POSITIVE PENSION ADMINISTRATION 

EXPERIENCE. WE’LL DO THIS IN FOUR 

KEY WAYS: 

1. By attracting, developing, and retaining 

top talent, we ensure our employees 

have the right skills and training to best 

serve plan members. 

2. By establishing, living, and promoting 

our brand, we build trust with our plan 

members that we have the expertise to 

manage their retirement funds and they 

can be proud to be a plan member.

3. By building a sustainable pension fund, 

we can deliver on our pension promise 

to provide a secure, stable future.

4. By creating a scalable organization, 

we optimize our business practices to 

maximize efficiencies.

Enrich the
Member

Experience

Attract, Develop, 
and Retain Talent Establish  

and 
Promote the 
Provident10 
Brand

Build a 
Sustainable 
Pension Fund

Create a Scalable 
Organization

WHAT WE BELIEVE
We believe it is important to give back to the community. In 2018, our employees 

participated in two community events:

• Volunteered with McHappy Day for the Ronald McDonald House 

• Participated in the St. John’s Terry Fox Run

2018 ANNUAL REPORT10



ENRICHING THE MEMBER EXPERIENCE

We believe in being accountable to our plan members. So, in 2018, we committed to measuring our level of 

member service to ensure we continually improve upon it. We implemented targeted service standards to 

uphold our accountability and to improve the plan member experience.

We strive to uphold the following service standards:

While striving to meet our new service standards,  

we have been working diligently to resolve 

outstanding transactions and to respond to plan 

members awaiting news of their purchase of service 

or transfer of service requests. 

We made excellent progress resolving outstanding 

transactions in 2018 and have identified measures to 

ensure that the remaining requests are resolved in 

2019. 

Our commitment to improving member service 

extends beyond responding to plan member 

inquiries and requests in a more timely manner. 

In Fall 2018, we invested in member experience 

training for our member-facing team. Each member 

of our Pension Administration team, and select 

individuals from other departments, attended 

customized member experience training sessions. 

The Provident10 Excellence in Member Experience 

Program taught our team members how to better 

listen to, understand, and communicate with plan 

members, and gave them service improvement 

strategies to apply when serving plan members.

We strive for continuous improvement and will  

host more Excellence in Member Experience 

sessions in 2019.

ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT

In 2018, we started our Enterprise Risk Management 

(ERM) Framework journey. Our ERM Framework is 

based on the knowledge that the pension industry 

has inherent uncertainty and risk. Our risk profile 

considers operating environment, predictable risks, 

and capacity to manage these risks in conjunction 

with the strategic directions and corporate pillars. 

To manage our key business risks, we will use 

an enterprise-wide approach to assess, prepare, 

and evaluate any risks identified, and plan how to 

manage them. 

PROCESS TARGET

Respond to pension, termination, and refund requests 90% within 30 days

Process plan member termination options 90% within 30 days

Process survivor benefits 95% within 30 days

Process purchase of service requests 90% within 90 days

Respond to telephone inquiries 95% within 2 business days

Respond to written inquiries 95% within 5 business days

11



SECURITY IMPROVEMENT 
PROGRAM 

We take the privacy and security of our members 

seriously. We know we are custodians of plan 

members’ personal and private information and have 

the responsibility to ensure that all safeguards,  

both technical and physical, are in place to protect  

that information.

In 2018, we successfully completed year one of a 

three-year Security Improvement Program (SIP). In 

2019, we will continue to implement the SIP, which 

will be complemented by cyber awareness training 

for Provident10 staff and continuing with our security 

education programs. 

ANNUAL PENSION STATEMENTS

In June 2018, Provident10 delivered approximately 

30,000 Annual Pension Statements to active plan 

members. Annual pension statements provide plan 

members with important information about their 

pension, including cumulative pensionable service, 

their expected retirement date, and their expected 

pension benefit. 

This year, we redesigned the pension statement to 

include more information and improve readability. 

We also introduced a new tool to help plan members 

better understand their Annual Pension Statements. 

The 2017 Pension Statement primer video walks plan 

members through their pension statement section by 

section, highlighting the information in each section 

and what it means for plan members. 

PENSIONER PAYROLL 

On November 15, 2018, we took another step 

in becoming a modern, independent pension 

organization when we began transitioning some of 

our pensioners to our new pension payment service 

provider, CIBC Mellon.

The transition is in accordance with the Joint 

Sponsorship Agreement (JSA) established with 

the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador 

(Government) as a result of pension reform. 

We worked closely with Government to ensure 

the transition was seamless for pensioners. During 

planning, it was determined that a phased approach 

to the transition was most appropriate. Over 4,000 

members made the transition to CIBC Mellon 

on November 15, 2018. We plan to continue the 

transition throughout 2019 and will notify members 

as the transition progresses.

Whether making the transition to CIBC Mellon in 

November 2018 or later, all pensioners were  

notified of the change. Each of our 21,000 

pensioners was sent a brochure explaining the 

change to pension payment service providers in 

general and a letter outlining how the change might 

impact them specifically. 

For more information about the pension  

payment service provider transition, visit  

Provident10.com/pensioners/my-pension-payment. 

2018 ANNUAL REPORT12
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TWO



ABOUT 
THE PLAN
PLAN HISTORY

THE PSPP WAS ESTABLISHED APRIL 1, 1967 TO HELP GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES PREPARE FOR 

RETIREMENT. THE PLAN NOW INCLUDES 40 PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS, INCLUDING CORE 

GOVERNMENT AND GOVERNMENT AGENCIES. 

Today, Provident10 is still helping our over 55,000 members plan for their retirement, secure in the knowledge 

their pension will be there for them when they need it.

• Pre-1967 Government had provided pensions 

since the late 1800s

• Benefits were non-contributory and paid from the 

Consolidated Revenue Fund of the Province

• The Newfoundland and Labrador Pooled Pension 

Fund (NLPPF) was created 

• The Pensions Funding Act was established

• Employee and matching employer contributions 

were collected and invested

• Funded ratio < 5%

• Funded ratio ~61% 

• Pension reform announced

• Clear path to achieving full funding

• Mandate to de-risk the asset mix

• Plan administration transitions to Provident10 

• Government introduced a contributory  

pension plan

• Plan membership grew and contributions increased 

• Minister of Finance was the sole Trustee

• Public Service Pension Plan Corporation  

Board appointed; independent pension  

organization created

• PSPP Fund carved out of NLPPF

• Service level agreement with Government

PRE-1967

1980

2014

2017

1967

1980-2014

2015-2017
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PLAN MEMBERSHIP

The Plan currently covers over 55,000 members, including the following groups:

• ACTIVE MEMBERS – Plan members currently working for a participating employer and actively 

contributing to the Plan.

• PENSIONERS – Plan members currently receiving a pension, including those who have retired, 

beneficiaries who are receiving a survivor pension, and disabled plan members.

• INACTIVE MEMBERS – Plan members who have left full-time employment, but retain an entitlement 

under the Plan.

27,191 
ACTIVE MEMBERS

20,868 
PENSIONERS

7,002
INACTIVE MEMBERS

MORE INFORMATION ABOUT THE PLAN CAN BE FOUND ON OUR WEBSITE, 

PROVIDENT10.COM. BE SURE TO READ THE PLAN MEMBER BOOKLET FOR 

DETAILED PLAN INFORMATION, INCLUDING HOW PENSIONS ARE CALCULATED.

TRANSITION PERIOD

WHEN PENSION REFORM HAPPENED IN 2014, A FIVE-YEAR TRANSITIONAL 

PERIOD BEGAN WHERE SOME PLAN MEMBERS COULD STILL RETIRE UNDER  

THE PRE-REFORM RULES.

THIS WINDOW ENDS ON DECEMBER 31, 2019. IT MEANS THAT SOME MEMBERS, 

WHO MAY BE ELIGIBLE TO USE PRE-REFORM RULES, WILL NEED TO ACT TODAY.

LEARN MORE: 

PROVIDENT10.COM/TRANSITIONPERIOD

15



BENEFITS OF THE PLAN

The PSPP is a defined benefit pension plan. Under a defined benefit pension plan, the plan member is 

eligible to enjoy their pension benefits from the time they retire until the time of their death, without having  

to worry if their benefits will run out or be terminated. Additional benefits of the Plan include:

A PREDICTABLE LIFETIME 

RETIREMENT INCOME

Using the pension calculation formula, PSPP plan 

members can predict their lifetime retirement income 

and rest assured that income will be available to 

them for the rest of their life. A PSPP pension income 

does not fluctuate or run out, providing security and 

peace of mind for pensioners. 

CONTRIBUTIONS MATCHED 

EQUALLY BY EMPLOYERS

Plan members and their employers contribute 

equally to the PSPP, meaning employers contribute 

the same amount to the plan member’s pension 

as the plan member. Contributions are determined 

based on a percentage of a plan member’s salary. 

CONTRIBUTIONS MANAGED BY 

PROFESSIONAL, EXPERIENCED 

INVESTMENT MANAGERS

Plan member and employer contributions to the 

PSPP are managed and invested by professional, 

experienced investment managers, based on an 

asset allocation recommended by the Investment 

Committee and Board of Directors, and approved by 

the Sponsor Body. 

SURVIVOR BENEFITS FOR  

LOVED ONES

The PSPP provides a survivor benefit of 60% of the 

plan member’s annual pension benefit to designated 

beneficiaries. Beneficiaries are pre-determined, 

based on their relationship to the plan member. 

DISABILITY PENSION 

A disability pension is provided to plan members 

who are no longer able to efficiently perform the 

duties of their position or the duties of an alternate 

position, due to a medical reason.

EARLY RETIREMENT OPTIONS

Early retirement options are available to plan 

members who wish to retire before they are entitled 

to receive their full, unreduced pension, provided 

they meet certain criteria. More information about 

early retirement options can be found in the Plan 

Member Booklet, found on www.provident10.com.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT16



FUNDING POLICY

Under the PSPP governance structure, the Sponsor Body is responsible for setting the Plan’s benefit levels 

and contribution rates, while the Board is responsible for managing the Plan’s assets and administering 

benefits. The PSPP Funding Policy is designed to guide the Plan to full funding by 2045 and lays out defined 

thresholds that must be met before the Sponsor Body can implement Plan design changes. 

The Funding Policy sets minimum and maximum funded ratio levels at three-year intervals. This coincides 

with the regular three-year actuarial valuation filing period, as required by pension regulation. If the funded 

ratio falls below the minimum ratio identified in the Funding Policy, then the Sponsor Body must take 

corrective action to restore the funded ratio. If the funded ratio moves above the maximum ratio identified, 

then the Sponsor Body can make Plan changes such as adjusting contribution levels or the pension 

calculation formula.

“You can rest assured 
today because we’re 
focused on your 
tomorrow.”

17



ACCOUNTABLE

Not only will we measure what we do, we will learn and act upon new understandings 

to always improve our level of service. 

VISION

We are always thinking about tomorrow. Not only do we focus on success today, we 

look for smarter, better ways to succeed tomorrow.

CUSTOMER-FOCUSED

We are responsive and responsible to our members and stakeholders, so they can 

always trust us.

HIGH STANDARDS

We set the quality bar high for ourselves because we know that our members rely on 

us for peace of mind.

TEAMWORK

Our success comes from a team approach. We always help and support each other 

because we’ll get better outcomes for our members.

WHAT’S IMPORTANT TO US?

Our pillars are the principles upon which Provident10 was founded and will guide us as we work toward 

delivering best-in-class service and results.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT18
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INVESTMENT
ABOUT THE FUND

THE MAIN PURPOSE OF THE PSPP IS TO PROVIDE MEMBERS WITH STEADY AND PREDICTABLE 

INCOME DURING RETIREMENT. TO MEET THIS OBJECTIVE, THE PROVIDENT10 INVESTMENT 

TEAM CAREFULLY MANAGES THE PSPP FUND, WHICH IS A POOL OF ASSETS MADE UP OF 

CONTRIBUTIONS FROM MEMBERS, MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS FROM EMPLOYERS, AND THE 

INVESTMENT EARNINGS FROM THOSE CONTRIBUTIONS. 

The PSPP investment strategy is designed to 

ensure we can meet the pension obligations to 

members as they come due and achieve long-

term sustainability of the Plan as measured by its 

funded ratio. We invest contributions in a well-

diversified portfolio of both public and private 

market investments that balance risk and return 

to achieve our objectives. 

Provident10’s investment objectives, beliefs, 

strategy, and asset allocation are described 

in the Plan’s Statement of Investment Policies 

and Procedures (SIP&P). The SIP&P also 

addresses other key matters, including our 

governance structure, permitted investments, 

risk management, conflict of interest, and 

monitoring procedures. The Board reviews and 

approves the SIP&P at least once annually in 

consultation with the Investment Committee and 

the Investment Team.

ASSET MIX

Setting the strategic asset mix policy is one of 

the most important decisions that Provident10 

undertakes regarding the PSPP investment 

strategy. The asset liability modelling (ALM) study 

is the first step in establishing the strategic asset 

mix policy as it considers the Plan’s liabilities, 

risk tolerance, and return requirements, and 

examines the impact on long-term funded status 

using various combinations of asset classes. The 

ALM study is based on numerous assumptions 

involving estimates of risk, return, and correlation 

between investments considered for a range of 

market and economic environments. The goal of 

the ALM study is to assist our Board and Sponsor 

Body to select an asset mix that helps achieve 

our investment objectives.

The following table shows our current asset mix 

in comparison to the strategic asset mix policy 

that was established in 2015 based on an ALM 

study conducted at that time.

2018 ANNUAL REPORT20



ASSET MIX

Asset Class
Actual Asset Mix as of 

December 31, 2018*

Strategic Asset Mix Policy 

2015–2018

Canadian Equity 16.8% 20%

Global Equity 31.0% 25%

Private Equity 2.8% 5%

Equity 50.6% 50%

Real Estate 5.2% 5%

Infrastructure 4.8% 5%

Real Assets 10.0% 10%

Canadian Core 13.8% 10%

Canadian Core Plus 17.7% 20%

Mortgages 3.5% 5%

Global Credit 4.4% 5%

Fixed Income 39.4% 40%

TOTAL 100% 100%

As described in our SIP&P, the Board expects to 

conduct an ALM study every three to five years. As 

three years had passed since the last ALM study, 

2018 marked an appropriate time to re-evaluate our 

strategic asset mix. Throughout the second half of 

2018, the Board engaged our investment consultant 

to conduct an ALM study. The objective of the 2018 

ALM study was to assess the probability of full 

funding for the PSPP in 2045 based on the current 

strategic asset mix, and if required, determine a 

revised strategic asset mix policy. 

The 2018 ALM study followed an iterative and 

informative process while engaging the Investment 

Team, the Investment Committee, the Board, and 

ultimately, the Sponsor Body for approval. Our 

investment consultant worked with us to establish 

an asset mix that considered the Plan’s goals in 

terms of four key metrics:

1.  RETURN: Select an asset mix policy with  

expected returns that will continue to exceed 

 the assumed actuarial discount rate of 6%.

2.  RISK: Manage risk to increase the probability  

of being fully funded in 2045, as stipulated in  

the JSA.

3.  COST: Control or reduce investment and 

operational costs.

4.  TIME: Make effective use of governance, 

management, and implementation time.

The ALM study concluded in December 2018 

and the Sponsor Body approved the Board’s 

recommended strategic asset mix policy in January 

2019. The new strategic asset mix policy reflects 

many changes from our previous policy, including 

an increase in allocations to non-traditional asset 

classes. The new policy includes four broad asset 

class categories as described on the following page.

*Current asset mix includes net assets directly associated with investing activities.
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NOTABLE CHANGES IN THE NEW POLICY INCLUDE:

• A modest reduction and diversification of the 

Plan’s equity assets, with dedicated allocations 

to emerging markets, low volatility, and global 

small cap investments. 

• A modest reduction and diversification of 

the Plan’s fixed income assets, with new 

allocations to private debt and growth-oriented 

fixed income such as emerging market debt 

and multi-asset credit strategies.

• An increase in the Plan’s real asset exposure, 

with higher allocations to global infrastructure 

and real estate, including non-Canadian 

investments. 

• The introduction of an absolute return 

allocation which will include an investment in 

hedge funds.

These combined changes are designed to improve the risk and return profile of the Plan. The new strategic 

asset mix policy is projected to provide returns that exceed the actuarial discount rate of 6%, improve the 

Plan’s funded status and probability of full funding in 2045, and provide better downside protection.

REAL ASSETS 

REAL ASSETS INCLUDE 
INVESTMENTS IN REAL ESTATE 
AND INFRASTRUCTURE. THE 

PRIMARY PURPOSE IS TO PROVIDE 
DIVERSIFICATION AND RETURNS 

THAT ARE PARTIALLY CORRELATED 
TO INFLATION OVER THE LONG TERM. 

ABSOLUTE RETURN

ABSOLUTE RETURN ASSETS INCLUDE 
HEDGE FUNDS THAT ARE HIGHLY 

DIVERSIFIED AND REFLECT A WIDE 
RANGE OF RISK-RETURN PROFILES. 

THE PRIMARY PURPOSE IS TO 
DIVERSIFY RISK BY GENERATING 

INVESTMENT RETURNS THAT ARE 
RELATIVELY STABLE AND GENERALLY 
UNCORRELATED WITH OTHER ASSET 

CLASS CATEGORIES.

EQUITIES 

EQUITIES, OR RETURN-SEEKING 
ASSETS, INCLUDE PUBLIC STOCKS 

AND PRIVATE EQUITY, THE PRIMARY 
PURPOSE IS TO DELIVER LONG-TERM 
ASSET GROWTH AND INCREASE THE 
OVERALL INVESTMENT RETURN OF 

THE FUND. THESE ARE THE HIGHEST 
RISK ASSETS IN THE FUND. 

FIXED INCOME 

FIXED INCOME INVESTMENTS INCLUDE 
BONDS ISSUED BY GOVERNMENTS 

AND CORPORATIONS. THEY PROVIDE 
MORE STABLE RETURNS THAN OTHER 

CATEGORIES AND ACT AS A HEDGE 
AGAINST EQUITY VOLATILITY. THE 
PRIMARY PURPOSE IS TO PROVIDE 

SAFETY AND LIQUIDITY AND REDUCE 
THE OVERALL VOLATILITY OF RETURNS.
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NEW STRATEGIC ASSET MIX

Implementation of the new strategic asset mix policy will commence in 2019. As there are many changes 

relative to the current asset mix, implementation will take time to execute. Allocations to private market 

investments such as real estate, infrastructure, private equity, and private debt generally take longer 

depending on market conditions and opportunities. 

The Plan’s assets will continue to be externally managed by professional investment management firms 

that are experts in their field. The Investment Team works closely with our investment consultant to select 

investment managers using a comprehensive and disciplined process. The due diligence factors evaluated 

when selecting and monitoring our managers include firm and organizational structure, investment and 

support staff, investment strategy and philosophy, investment process and portfolio characteristics, historical 

performance, and fees.

Notes: 

Canadian Plus includes core-plus fixed income and commercial mortgages. 

Growth Oriented includes emerging market debt and multi-asset credit strategies. 

Global Equity includes emerging market equity, global low volatility, and global small cap.
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MARKET COMMENTARY

2018 was a challenging year for capital markets. 

After a turbulent first quarter, equity markets 

climbed to mid-year highs on prospects of 

continuing global synchronized growth. However, 

optimism was short-lived and by the fourth quarter 

sentiment deteriorated as investors focused 

on escalating US/China trade tensions, political 

uncertainly in Europe, tightening US monetary 

policy, and diverging global economic growth. 

Most global equity markets finished the year with 

moderate to significant declines. The benchmark 

S&P500 lost 4.4% in US Dollar terms, and the MSCI 

All Country World Index lost 7.7% in foreign currency 

terms. Global equity losses for Canadian investors 

were mitigated for unhedged investors, aided by a 

weakening Canadian dollar which lost 8.3% relative 

to the US Dollar due to tighter US central bank 

policy and declining energy prices.

Canadian equity markets also participated in 

the global market decline with the S&P/TSX 

Composite Index losing 8.9%. The Materials sector 

was a significant detractor, impacted by declining 

commodity prices, slowing growth in China, and 

a rising US Dollar. Additionally, the Energy sector 

underperformed on concerns of excess global oil 

supply which resulted in global oil prices falling 

by more than 20%. Oil price declines were felt 

more acutely in Canada where pipeline capacity 

and regulatory issues caused Canadian crude oil 

prices to reach record lows before rebounding on 

government-mandated production cuts.

Canadian bond investors struggled to balance 

less accommodative central bank policy with 

deteriorating and volatile financial markets. In the 

wake of economic momentum, tightening labour 

conditions, and other inflationary signals, the US 

Federal Reserve raised interest rates four times 

during the year with bond yields reaching multi-year 

highs. The Bank of Canada followed suit, raising 

interest rates three times during 2018, detracting 

from Canadian bond market returns which were 

flat into the third quarter of 2018. However, by the 

fourth quarter, indications of more dovish central 

banks sent yields lower, while declining financial 

market conditions increased investor demand for 

the safety of fixed income assets which resulted in 

modest returns for the FTSE Canada Universe Bond 

Index of 1.4% at year end.

$9.172B NET ASSETS AVAILABLE  

FOR BENEFITS
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FUND PERFORMANCE

Given the challenging market conditions of 2018, 

the PSPP experienced a loss of 0.8% for the year, 

net of management fees. The Plan’s annual loss 

was largely driven by declines in public equities, 

partially offset by modest returns in Canadian 

fixed income and positive returns in real estate, 

infrastructure, and private equity.

The Board has two key performance objectives 

for the Plan. The primary objective is to generate a 

long-term return on invested assets that exceeds 

the 6% discount rate used by our Plan actuary and 

set by the Funding Policy. The secondary objective 

is to outperform the return of the policy benchmark 

approved by the Board. This outperformance is 

considered added value and allows us to evaluate 

the effectiveness of our investment strategy and 

implementation at the total fund level. In addition to 

evaluating the added value at the total fund level, 

benchmarks are used to assess performance of 

individual asset classes and individual investment 

managers.

In years of market volatility and declines such as 

2018, it is important for plan sponsors and members 

to maintain focus on the long term. Long-term 

performance as measured by the Plan’s ten-year 

annualized return of 8.9% was well ahead of the 

actuarial discount rate of 6%. However, the four-

year annualized return of 5.3% fell short of the 

actuarial discount rate due to Canadian equity and 

fixed income markets which have been unable to 

generate returns exceeding 6% over the past four 

years. Some of the changes identified in our new 

strategic asset mix policy, such as a reduction in 

Canadian equity and diversification of fixed income, 

are designed to help the Plan achieve a long-term 

rate of return greater than 6% moving forward.

Despite a challenging market overall, the Plan 

achieved its secondary performance objective 

of outperforming the policy benchmark. As of 

December 31, 2018, each of the one-year, four-year,  

and ten-year annualized returns exceeded the 

respective policy benchmark return.

NET RETURN VS POLICY BENCHMARK (%)
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FUNDED STATUS

IMPROVING THE PLAN’S FUNDED STATUS AND WORKING TOWARDS FULL FUNDING IS A KEY FOCUS 

FOR THE BOARD AND IS A REQUIREMENT OF THE JSA.

After several years of favourable market conditions 

and strong investment returns that led to increases 

in the Plan’s funded ratio, 2018 was a year with 

negative performance. As of December 31, 2018, 

our invested assets were $6.6 billion and our net 

assets available for benefits were $9.2 billion. The 

Plan’s liabilities continue to grow and were $9.7 

billion as of year end. As our liabilities grew at a 

faster rate than our investments in 2018, this led to 

a decrease in the funded ratio from 95.9% at the 

end of 2017 to 94.1% at the end of 2018.

The funded status and long-term sustainability of 

the Plan was a key focus for the Board during the 

2018 ALM study. We will move forward in 2019 to 

implement the new asset mix policy and investment 

strategies that are designed to guide the Plan to 

long-term sustainability and full funding. We strive 

to achieve strong investment returns so that our 

members can rely on their retirement income well 

into the future.

IMPROVING FUNDED STATUS
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GOVERNANCE
PROVIDENT10 OPERATES IN A JOINT TRUSTEE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE THAT INCLUDES OUR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS, THE SPONSOR BODY, AND THE EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP TEAM. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board has overall responsibility for pension administration, corporation management, actuarial 

reporting, and investment management. It acts independently of the Sponsor Body and Executive 

Leadership Team and makes decisions in the best interest of plan beneficiaries. The Board also acts  

as the Board of Trustees for the Public Service Pension Plan Fund.

SPONSOR BODY

The Sponsor Body is responsible for oversight of the JSA. Their primary responsibility is to make 

decisions regarding plan benefits. They also approve the assumptions used in actuarial valuations  

and direct the level of risk appropriate for the Fund’s asset mix.

EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP TEAM

The CEO and Executive Leadership Team are responsible for all operational matters, implementing 

strategic plans and policies, and the general supervision of corporate affairs. 

• Chief Executive Officer: Chuck Bruce

• Chief Investment Officer: Natasha Trainor

• Vice President, Finance: Judith Bullen

• Vice President, Systems and Quality: Mark Stanford

• Vice President, Human Resources and Administration: Peter Head

2018 ANNUAL REPORT28



OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Top Row (L-R): Randell Earle, Bert Blundon, Pamela Toope, Mary Galway, Fred Murphy, John Vivian

Bottom Row (L-R): Dawn Learning, Emilian Groch, Douglas Laing, Loyola Sullivan, Louise Poirier-Landry, Denise Hamilton, Michelle Jewer

Our Executive Leadership Team is supported by a group of talented individuals who keep our plan members 

at the heart of their work, because plan members depend on us to be focused on their tomorrow.

2018 was an eventful year, strengthening the relationships between all three groups. Each group has played 

a comprehensive role in meeting their independent responsibilities which are aligned with the successful 

management and sustainability of the PSPP. 

The Board has three committees—each is comprised of Board members that play an advisory role: (1) the 

Audit and Finance Committee, (2) the Investment Committee, and (3) the Governance and Human Resources 

Committee. In 2018, the Board approved a revised committee structure and process of appointment and 

reappointment of committee members: 

• Committees will consist of six directors with equal representation of Union and Government appointees. 

• The Chair and Vice Chair of the Board will be ex-officio, non-voting members of all committees. 

• The Investment Committee will continue with Board-appointed investment experts, external to the Board. 

• Committee members, other than ex-officio members and the chair of the committees, will be appointed 

or reappointed by the Board for fixed terms. 

• Vacancies on a committee will be filled on the advice of the Board Chair and the Committee Chair with 

consideration for succession and skills matrix within the committee. 

• Committee membership will be reviewed with any changes to the Board.

These changes will be implemented in 2019. 

For more information about the governance structure of Provident10, please visit:  

Provident10.com/about/how-were-managed.



DIRECTORS’ MEETING ATTENDANCE AND REMUNERATION 
REPORTING

As per the Provident10 Board of Directors 

Remuneration Policy, each Director is paid an 

annual honorarium  and a per -meeting attendance 

allowance. Government and Union employees 

are not eligible for the per-meeting attendance 

allowance. Directors are also reimbursed for 

reasonable travel expenses.

The annual remuneration for directors is as follows:

• Chair .................................................................... $5,000 

• Vice-Chair .......................................................... $2,500 

• Director ................................................................ $1,250 

• Committee Chair .............................................. $1,250  

(in addition to Director’s annual remuneration) 

• Remuneration of meeting 

• Half day ........................................................... $250

• Full day ............................................................ $500 

Annual Directors’ Reporting 

Meeting attendance and remuneration details for each Director are reported in the following summary tables. 

The tables include attendance for duly constituted meetings, and remuneration for duly constituted and ad 

hoc meetings.  

*The Board Chair and Vice Chair are ex-officio, non-voting members of all committees.

NAME BOARD AUDIT INVESTMENT G&HR

Bert Blundon  
(Board Chair)*

5/5 0/4 2/4 6/6

Loyola Sullivan  
(Vice Chair)*

5/5 3/4 1/4 4/6

Ann Marie Miller  
(Term ended October 18, 2018)

3/4 3/4 N/A N/A

David Jones, Chair Investment  
Committee (Term ended October 18, 2018)

2/4 N/A 3/4 N/A

Dawn Learning 4/5 N/A 4/4 N/A

Denise Hamilton 5/5 4/4 1/1 N/A

Douglas Laing 4/5 N/A 4/4 N/A

Emilian Groch 5/5 N/A 1/1 N/A

Fred Murphy 1/5 N/A N/A N/A

Jocelyn Perry  
(Term ended October 19, 2018)

3/4 N/A N/A 4/6

John Vivian 4/5 N/A N/A 6/6

Louise Poirier-Landry  
(Term began October 19, 2018)

1/1 N/A 1/1 N/A

Mary Galway 4/5 N/A 4/4 N/A

Michelle Jewer  
(Term began October 19, 2018)

1/1 N/A 1/1 N/A

Pamela Toope, Chair Audit Committee 5/5 4/4 N/A N/A

Randell Earle, Chair G&HR Committee 5/5 N/A 1/1 6/6

Nancy-Beth Foran  
(external investment expert)

N/A N/A 4/4 N/A

Will Small  
(external investment expert)

N/A N/A 4/4 N/A
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NAME HONORARIUM MEETING REMUNERATION

Bert Blundon  
(Board Chair)*

$5,000.00 $0.00

Loyola Sullivan  
(Vice Chair)*

$2,500.00 $8,000.00

Ann Marie Miller  
(Term ended October 18, 2018)

$937.50 $0.00

David Jones, Chair Investment  
Committee (Term ended October 18, 2018)

$1,875.00 $0.00

Dawn Learning $1,250.00  $0.00 

Denise Hamilton $1,250.00  $4,250.00

Douglas Laing $1,250.00  $3,250.00 

Emilian Groch $1,250.00  $2,750.00 

Fred Murphy $1,250.00  $0.00 

Jocelyn Perry  
(Term ended October 19, 2018)

$937.50  $3,250.00 

John Vivian $1,250.00 $0.00 

Louise Poirier-Landry  
(Term began October 19, 2018)

$312.50 $750.00 

Mary Galway $1,250.00  $3,500.00 

Michelle Jewer  
(Term began October 19, 2018)

$312.50  $0.00

Pamela Toope, Chair Audit Committee $2,500.00  $0.00 

Randell Earle, Chair G&HR Committee $2,500.00 $6,000.00 

Nancy-Beth Foran  
(External investment expert)

$2,500.00 $1,250.00 

Will Small  
(External investment expert)

$2,500.00 $1,500.00
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COMPENSATION PROGRAM

Provident10 has a progressive compensation program that considers factors such as our size, assets under 

management, regional demographics, and our ability to attract, retain, and reward talent. We subscribe to a 

pay-for-performance model, as each employee’s compensation is tied to their annual performance review.

The compensation program is comprised of base salary and the short-term incentive program (STIP), a group 

insurance program, and membership in the PSPP. Base salary reviews are conducted annually with any 

adjustment determined consistent with benchmark data and success within the role. The variable-pay STIP 

is assessed and paid annually. Payments are re-earned each year through successfully achieving annually 

defined individual and corporate objectives.

Our compensation program strikes a balance between recruiting and retaining high performers to support a 

professional pension organization and our accountability to plan members and sponsors. 

2018 Short-Term Incentive Plan Corporate Objective Achievement

The 2018 short-term incentive plan included seven corporate objectives. Our thanks to our team for their 

significant contributions to the overall achievement of these objectives. 

CORPORATE OBJECTIVE WEIGHTING ACHIEVEMENT

1) Targeted Service Standards 20% Exceeded Target

2) Outstanding Transaction Resolution 20% Below Threshold

3) Pensioner Payroll Project Transition 15% Exceeded Target

4) Investment Policy Benchmark Performance 10% Exceeded Target

5) Budget Performance 10% Exceeded Target

6) Succession Planning 10% Met Target

7) Communication Strategy 15% Exceeded Target

TOTAL 100%
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1.  Implementation and management of targeted 

service standards for new requests has been 

an evolving and progressive strategy for key 

pension administration transactions. As the 

implementation continues to mature, our focus will 

be on continuous improvement and the analysis of 

trends. On average, targeted services standards 

were exceeded in 2018.

2.  Although significant progress has been made in 

resolving the outstanding transactions in 2018, 

further effort and investment are required in 2019.

3.  On November 15, 2018, we successfully 

transitioned pension payments for over 4,000 

pensioners to CIBC Mellon. Our objective was 

to achieve excellence in the areas of accuracy, 

timeliness, communication, and the member 

experience. We are proud to highlight we 

exceeded our objective, giving confidence to our 

pensioners who will transition in 2019.

4.  In line with our Strategic Direction of Building a 

Sustainable Pension Fund, the overall objective 

of the investment strategy is to invest assets 

in a manner that maximizes returns within an 

acceptable level of risk. One objective for the total 

fund is to outperform a benchmark portfolio return 

after investment management fees over rolling 

four-year periods. The fund outperformance has 

exceeded expectations as at December 31, 2018 

for the policy benchmark investment objective.

5.  We are held accountable to a Board-approved 

budget designed to support the achievement of 

our Strategic Directions and annual business plan 

while being financially responsible to the pension 

fund. In 2018, we achieved many of our stated 

objectives while remaining on budget for the year. 

6.  Throughout the year, key succession planning 

activities were completed on target to ensure 

we are well positioned to support sustainability 

and continuity throughout the organization. Our 

succession plan further supports the Strategic 

Direction to Attract, Develop, and Retain Talent.

7.  Consistent with our Strategic Direction to Establish 

and Promote the Provident10 Brand, we exceeded 

our target in the development and delivery of 

an effective communication plan. In 2018, we 

executed a communication plan focused on plan 

members and pensioners, the Board and Sponsor 

Body, participating employers and the Unions, and 

Provident10 employees.

4,000
PENSIONERS SUCCESSFULLY 

TRANSITIONED TO NEW 

PAYROLL SERVICE PROVIDER
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service standards

In 2018, we implemented targeted service 

standards to improve our level of member 

service and the plan member experience.

Executive Compensation Reporting

Transparency and accountability are two of our most important principles. In maintaining these principles, we 

are reporting compensation details for the Executive Leadership Team. The following summary reports the 

actual total cash compensation amounts on an individual basis for each executive position.

Each executive participates in the corporate group insurance program and the PSPP. 

POSITION YEAR BASE SALARY STIP
TOTAL CASH 

COMPENSATION

Chief Executive Officer
2017 $280,000.00 $81,506.00 $361,506.00

2018 $285,000.00 $85,500.00 $370,500.00

Chief Investment Officer
2017 $175,000.00 $42,275.00 $217,275.00

2018 $178,285.00 $44,844.00 $223,129.00

Vice President, Finance
2017 $170,000.00 $41,917.00 $211,917.00

2018 $173,192.00 $43,562.00 $216,754.00

Vice President,  
Systems and Quality

2017 $165,000.00 $40,684.00 $205,684.00

2018 $168,098.00 $42,281.00 $210,379.00

Vice President,  
Human Resources  
and Administration

2017 $150,538.00 $37,443.00 $187,981.00

2018 $158,492.00 $39,912.00 $198,404.00
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KPMG LLP 
TD Place 
140 Water St., Suite 1001 
St. John’s NL  A1C 6H6 
Canada 
Tel 709-733-5000 
Fax 709-733-5050 

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of 
independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (�KPMG International�), a 
Swiss entity.   
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 

Independent Auditors’ Report 
To the Board of Directors of Provident10

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Provident10 (the Entity), which comprise: 

the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018 

the statement of operations for the year then ended 

the statement of changes net assets for the year then ended 

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

and notes to the  financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements, present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2018, and its results 
of operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian 
Accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of 
our auditors’ report.   

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.    
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Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises: 

the information, other than the financial statements and the auditors’ report 
thereon, included in Annual Report 2018. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit and remain alert for indications that the other information appears 
to be materially misstated.   

We obtained the information, other than the financial statements and the auditors’ 
report thereon, included in Annual Report 2018, as at the date of this auditors’ report.    

If, based on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact in the auditors’ report. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 
organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial 
reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  
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Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit.  

We also: 
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.  

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants 
St. John’s, Canada 
June 19, 2019 
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PROVIDENT10 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2018 2017
(000s) (000s)

Assets
Current assets
 Cash $  1,760 $ 2,382
 Receivable from Province of Newfoundland and Labrador  46  40
 HST Receivable   117  -
 Prepaid expenses  260  212
 Current portion of promissory note receivable (note 8)  42,243  39,852

 44,426  42,486
Capital assets (note 3)  1,624  1,889
Promissory note receivable (note 8)  2,456,688  2,498,931
Total assets  2,502,738   2,543,306
Liabilities and net assets
Current liabilities
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $            1,043 $            1,634
 HST payable  -  9
 Payable to Public Service Pension Plan (note 2)  1,279  921
 Payable to Province of Newfoundland and Labrador (note 9)  464  907
 Deferred tenant inducement  513  575
 Straight-line rent  105  99
 Current portion of promissory note payable (note 8)  42,243  39,852

 45,647  43,997

Other post-employment benefits liabilities (note 5)  403  378
Promissory note payable (note 8)  2,456,688  2,498,931
Total liabilities  2,502,738  2,543,306
Net assets  $                     - $             -

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

31 DECEMBER 
WITH COMPARATIVE INFORMATION FOR 31 DECEMBER 2017

On behalf of the Board:

Director  ________________________________  Director _______________________________    
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PROVIDENT10 
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
WITH COMPARATIVE FIGURES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

2018 2017
(000s) (000s)

Revenue
 Management fees $ 8,230 $ 8,390
 Interest  148,148  150,404

 156,378  158,794
Expenses
 Salaries and benefits  4,857  4,899
 Professional services  684  1,093
 Directors and committees  116  88
 Postage and service charges  181  162
 Interest  148,148  150,405
 Amortization  273  224
 Other operating expenses  2,119  1,923

Total expenses  156,378  158,794

Excess of revenue over expenses $ - $ -

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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PROVIDENT10 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
WITH COMPARATIVE FIGURES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

2018 2017
(000s) (000s)

Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
 Net earnings $ - $ -
 Items not involving cash:  
  Amortization of capital assets  335  274
  Amortization of tenant inducement  (62)  (50)

 273  224
Change in non-cash operating working capital:

  lncrease in payable to Public Service Pension Plan  358  2,088

  lncrease in receivable from Province of Newfoundland 
  and Labrador  (6)  (40)

  (lncrease) decrease in prepaid expenses  (48)  1
  Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (591)  (49)
  Increase in HST receivable  (126)  (415)
  Increase in other post-employment benefits liabilities  25  378
  Decrease in payable to Province of Newfoundland and Labrador  (443)  (1)

 (558)  2,186

Investing activities:   
 Purchase of capital assets  (70)  (1,658)
 Tenant inducement  -  625
 Increase in straight-line rent  6  99
 Proceeds on promissory note receivable  39,852  37,596
  39,788  36,662
Financing activities:
 Repayment of promissory note payable  (39,852)  (37,596)

 (39,852)  (37,596)

lncrease (decrease) in cash  (622)  1,252
Cash, beginning of year  2,382  1,130
Cash, end of year $ 1,760 $ 2,382

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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PROVIDENT10 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018    

Provident10, (the “Corporation”), is a not-for-profit 

organization incorporated on 31 March 2015 under 

the authority of Section 36.1 of the Public Service 

Pensions Act 1991 (the “Act”). The Corporation 

changed its name to Provident10 from Public Service 

Pension Plan Corporation, effective 27 August 2017.

The purpose of the Corporation is to act as Trustee 

of the Public Service Pension Plan (the “Plan”) 

and to serve as administrator of the Plan. The 

Corporation is bound, with the Board of Directors, 

to act in accordance with the Joint Sponsorship 

Agreement between Her Majesty in Right of 

Newfoundland and Labrador and the Association of 

Allied Health Professionals, the Canadian Union of 

Public Employees, the lnternational Brotherhood of 

Electrical Workers, the Newfoundland and Labrador 

Association of Public and Private Employees, and 

the Registered Nurses’ Union Newfoundland and 

Labrador (collectively the “Unions”). A service level 

agreement (the “Service Level Agreement”) was 

signed between the Corporation and the Province 

of Newfoundland and Labrador (the “Province”) to 

allow the Province to continue to administer the Plan 

for an interim period of 12 months. The agreement 

expired on 31 March 2017. The Province continues 

to provide limited administration services covered 

by this agreement for the disbursement of pension 

payments and refund of contributions, on an interim 

basis (Note 9).

The Corporation operates under a cost recovery 

basis, as provided for in the Service Level 

Agreement. The Corporation is exempt from income 

taxes, provided certain requirements of the lncome 

Tax Act are met.

1. Significant accounting policies

A) BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The financial statements have been prepared 

by management in accordance with

Canadian accounting standards for not-for-

profit organizations in Part lll of the Chartered 

Professional Accountants (CPA) Canada 

Handbook.

B) REVENUE RECOGNITION

Fee revenue is recognized as services are 

provided and collection is probable.

C) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments are recorded 

at fair value on initial recognition. All 

financial instruments are subsequently 

recorded at cost or amortized cost, unless 

management has elected to carry the 

instruments at fair value. The Corporation 

has not elected to carry any such financial 

instruments at fair value. Transaction costs 

incurred on the acquisition of financial 

instruments measured subsequently at 

fair value are expensed as incurred. All 

other financial instruments are adjusted by 

transaction costs incurred on acquisition 

and financing costs, which are amortized 

using the straight-line method.

Financial assets are assessed for 

impairment on an annual basis at the end 

of the fiscal year. lf there is an indicator of 

impairment, the Corporation determines if 

there is a significant adverse change in the 

expected amount or timing of future cash 

flows from the financial asset. lf there is a 

significant adverse change in the expected 

cash flows, the carrying value of the 

financial asset is reduced to the highest 

of the present value of the expected cash 

flows, the amount that could be realized 

from selling the financial asset, or the 

amount the Corporation expects to realize 
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PROVIDENT10 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018    

1. Significant accounting policies 
(continued)

C) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

by exercising its right to any collateral. lf 

events and circumstances reverse in a future 

period, an impairment loss will be reversed to 

the extent of the improvement, not exceeding 

the initial carrying value.

D) USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of the financial statements 

requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts 

of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 

contingent assets and liabilities at the date 

of the financial statements and the reported 

amounts of revenue and expenses during 

the year. Significant items subject to such 

estimates and assumptions include accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities and other post-

employment benefits. Actual results could 

differ from these estimates.

E) CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital assets are recorded at cost and 

include amounts that are directly related 

to the acquisition, design, construction, 

development, improvement, or betterment of 

the assets directly attributable to construction 

and development.

Assets under construction are not amortized 

until after substantial completion and the 

assets are put into service. The cost, less 

residual value, of capital assets is amortized 

on a straight-line basis over their estimated 

useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements – Over the term  
of lease

Furniture, fixtures, and equipment – 5 years

Computer hardware – 3 years

Computer software – 3 years

Telephone system – 3 years

Capital assets are written down when conditions 

indicate that they no longer contribute to the 

Corporation’s ability to provide goods and 

services, or when the value of future economic 

benefits associated with the capital assets are 

less than their net book value.

F) OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT  

BENEFITS LIABILITY

Under the collective agreement between the 

Newfoundland and Labrador Association of Public 

and Private Employees and the Corporation, 

employees identified on Schedule A of the Joint 

Sponsorship Agreement are eligible to participate 

in the Province’s other post-employment benefits 

plan (the “OPEB Plan”). The OPEB Plan provides 

group life insurance and health care benefits on 

a cost shared basis to retired employees, should 

they continue to meet the Province’s eligibility 

requirements. The associated employer portion of 

the costs for the Corporation’s employees will be 

borne by the Corporation.

The obligation at the end of the year is 

determined based on the most recent actuarial 

valuation report prepared for accounting 

purposes. The measurement date of the 

obligation coincides with the Corporation’s 

year end. The date of the most recent actuarial 

valuation of the obligation prepared for 

accounting purposes is 31 December 2018.

G) DEFERRED TENANT INDUCEMENTS

ln 2016, the Corporation entered a ten-year lease 

for its corporate office. Under that agreement, 

the landlord funded renovations to the space as 

tenant inducements. These tenant inducements 

are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis 

over the term of the related lease. 
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PROVIDENT10 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018    

1. Significant accounting policies 
(continued)

H) STRAIGHT-LINE RENT

Under the Corporation lease for its corporate 

office, there are increases in base rent over 

the term of the lease. The base rent cost over 

the full lease term, including free rent periods, 

have been determined and are amortized 

on a straight-line basis over the term of the 

related lease.

2. Receivable from (Payable to) 
Public Service Pension Plan
Receivable from (Payable to) the Plan represents 

total charges to the Plan plus HST less operating 

funding received.

The receivable is non-interest bearing and due 

when the invoice is rendered.

3. Capital assets

4. Payable to Province of Newfoundland and Labrador

2018 2017

Cost Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

Net Book
Value

(000s) (000s) (000s) (000s)

Leasehold improvements $               1,410 $                  253 $               1,157 $               1,295
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment  525 180 345 414
Computer hardware 134 85 49 92
Computer software  113 59 54 50
Telephone system  55 36 19 38

$               2,237 $                  613 $               1,624 $               1,889

Amounts due to the Province are non-interest bearing and payable on receipt of invoice.
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PROVIDENT10 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018    

5. Other post-employment benefits liability
The obligation was calculated as at 31 December 2018 under Sections 3462 and 3463 of the CPA Canada 

Handbook - Accounting by the Corporation’s actuary. ln determining the liabilities under Section 3463 

of the CPA Handbook, projected unit credit method prorated on service was used for the accounting 

valuation. The significant assumptions used were as follows:

31 December 2017 accrued
benefit liability and 2018

expense

31 December 2018 accrued
benefit liability 

Discount rate 3.60% 3.90%
General inflation 2.25% 2.25%
Salary increases 3.75% 3.75%
Health premium inflation/trend 6.0% decreasing by 0.15%

annually to an ultimate rate of 
4.50%

6.0% decreasing by 0.15%
annually to an ultimate rate of 
4.50%

Dependant life premium increases 2.25% 2.25%
Mortality CPM – 2014 Public Sector with 

generational projection using 
scale CPM-B

CPM – 2014 Public Sector with 
generational projection using 
scale CPM-B

Termination 2014 Public Sector Experience 
Study, with annual sample 
rates:
 • Age 25: 16.48%
 • Age 30: 9.49%
 • Age 35: 7.13%
 • Age 40: 5.56%
 • Age 45: 4.61%
 • Age 50: 3.60%
 • Age 55: 0.00%

2014 Public Sector Experience 
Study, with annual sample 
rates:
 • Age 25: 16.48%
 • Age 30: 9.49%
 • Age 35: 7.13%
 • Age 40: 5.56%
 • Age 45: 4.61%
 • Age 50: 3.60%
 • Age 55: 0.00%

Disability None None

Retirement

If eligible to retire before
1 January 2020:
50% at the earlier of age 55
with 30 years’ service or age
60 with 5 years’ service.
Remainder at the earlier of
35 years’ service or age 65.
If not, then:
57.5% at the earlier age of
58 with 30 years’ service or
age 60 with 10 years’ service.
Remainder at the earlier of
35 years’ service or age 65.

If eligible to retire before
1 January 2020:
50% at the earlier of age 55
with 30 years’ service or age
60 with 5 years’ service.
Remainder at the earlier of
35 years’ service or age 65.
If not, then:
57.5% at the earlier age of
58 with 30 years’ service or
age 60 with 10 years’ service.
Remainder at the earlier of 
35 years’ service or age 65.
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31 December 2017 accrued
benefit liability and 2018

expense

31 December 2018 accrued
benefit liability 

Spouse age difference Females three years younger Females three years younger

Members electing coverage benefits 
at retirement (“Participation Rate”) 95% 95%

Coverage elected at retirement 65% Family 65% Family

PROVIDENT10 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018    

5. Other post-employment benefits liability (continued)

The other post-employment benefits liability as at 31 December 2018 is calculated as follows:

6. Pension Plan
Qualifying employees of the Corporation 

participate in the Plan, a multi-employer defined 

benefit pension plan, which provides pension 

benefits based on length of service and earnings.

Contributions to the Plan are required by 

both the employees and the employer. The 

Corporation’s contributions range from 8.95% to 

11.85% of pensionable earnings. Total employer 

contributions for 2018 were $319 thousand (2017 - 

$227 thousand) and are recognized in salaries and 

benefits expense in the financial statements.

The Corporation is not responsible for any 

underfunded liability, nor does the Corporation have 

access to any surplus that may arise in the Plan.

7. Sick leave
Under the collective agreement, employees 

identified on Schedule A of the Joint 

Sponsorship Agreement and covered by the 

collective agreement were entitled to carry 

over accumulated sick leave balances. The 

estimated gross value of the sick leave balances 

is $302 thousand (2017 - $297 thousand). Sick 

leave balances are non-vesting and further 

accumulations are prohibited. No amount has 

been accrued in the financial statements for the 

potential liability. 

 

(000s)
Other post-employment benefits liability assumed by the Corporation as at 31 December 2017  $                378
Other post-employment benefits cost  26
Company payments  (1)
Other post-employment benefits liability as at 31 December 2018  $                403
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PROVIDENT10 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018    

8. Promissory note
The Province issued a $2.685 billion promissory 

note to the Corporation on 31 March 2015. The 

Plan has a right to receive the proceeds of the 

promissory note from the Province held by the 

corporate trustee. The note was issued as part of 

pension reform in March 2015 and is receivable 

over 30 years in quarterly installments of $47 

million (principal and interest). The payments 

will be made regardless of the funded status of 

the Plan. As at 31 December 2018, the balance 

receivable is $2.499 billion (2017 - $2.539 billion).

Principal repayments of the promissory note 

by the Province to the Corporation and by the 

Corporation to the Plan over the next five years 

(in thousands) are as follows:

2019 $42,243

2020 $44,777

2021  $47,464

2022  $50,312

2023  $53,331

9. Related party transactions

A) THE PROVINCE

The Province is related to the Corporation by 

its ability to appoint 6 of 14 members of the 

Corporation’s Board of Directors.

The Corporation entered into the Service 

Level Agreement with the Province for 

management services to be provided on a 

cost recovery basis for an interim period. The 

Service Level Agreement with the Province 

expired on 31 March 2017. The Province 

continues to provide limited administration 

services for the disbursement of pension 

payments and refund of contributions, on 

an interim basis. The cost of the services 

in 2018 was $0.4 million (2017 - $1.1 million)

and is based on an allocation of salaries and 

administrative costs.

B) THE PLAN

The Corporation is related to the Plan as the 

Board of Directors oversees the Plan and the 

Corporation. Management fees earned of 

$8.2 million (2017 - $8.4 million) are from the 

Plan based on a cost recovery basis.

10. Economic dependence and 
concentration of credit risk 
The Corporation is economically dependent 

on the Plan by virtue of the cost recovery basis 

under which it operates. 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty 

may default on its contractual obligations 

resulting in a financial loss. The Corporation is 

exposed to a concentration of credit risk with 

respect to the receivable from the Plan. The 

Corporation has assessed the amount as fully 

collectible.

The Corporation is not exposed to any other 

significant financial risks.

11. Commitments
The Corporation is committed under the terms of 

its lease for office space to make the following 

minimum annual lease payments (in thousands):

2019 $592

2020 $592

2021 $592

2022 $592

2023 $592

Thereafter $1,906

Total $4,866
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Independent auditors’ Report

To the Board of Trustees of the Public Service Pension Plan

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Public Service Pension Plan (the Entity), 
which comprise:

• the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018

• the statement of changes in net assets available for benefits for the year then 
ended

• the statement of changes in accrued pension obligation for the year then ended

• and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2018, and its changes 
in net assets available for benefits and its changes in accrued benefits obligations for 
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for pension 
plans

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of 
our auditors’ report.  

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.    

.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for pension plans, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial 
reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. 

We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants
St. John’s, Canada
June 19, 2019
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PUBLIC SERVICE PENSION PLAN 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 DECEMBER 2018 
WITH COMPARATIVE INFORMATION FOR 31 DECEMBER 2017    

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

On behalf of the Board:

Director  ________________________________  Director _______________________________    

2018 2017
(000s) (000s)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  $          161,396  $          170,043
Accrued investment income  11,979  11,547
Outstanding transaction allowance (note 10)  35,000  75,000
Contributions receivable:
  Employee  6,759  7,983
  Employer  6,759  7,982
Harmonized Sales Tax receivable  1,458  737
Receivable from Provident10 (note 14)  942  921
Receivable from pending trades  1,408  9,584
Investments (note 4)  6,463,479  6,544,498
Promissory note receivable (note 13)  2,498,931  2,538,783 

Total assets  9,188,111  9,367,078

Liabilities   
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  4,931  4,929
Payable for pending trades  2,926  8,247
Refunds payable  8,130  12,918
Due to Province of Newfoundland and Labrador  619  351

 16,606  26,445
Net assets available for benefits  9,171,505  9,340,633
Accrued benefit obligation (note 9)  9,746,030  9,736,884
Commitments (note 15)

Deficit  $         (574,525)  $         (396,251)
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PUBLIC SERVICE PENSION PLAN 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
WITH COMPARATIVE INFORMATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

2018 2017
(000s) (000s)

Increase in net assets:
Investment income (note 5a)  $          177,978  $          176,606
Gain (loss) on sale of investments (note 5b)  182,152  133,671
Current period change in market value of investments (note 5b)  (391,879)  286,333
Interest on promissory note (note 13)  148,148  150,404

 116,399  747,014
  

Contributions (note 11):   
  Employee  188,874  184,148
  Employer  164,063  164,339
Current period change in outstanding transaction receivable (note 10)  (40,000)  (25,000)

 312,937  323,487

 429,336  1,070,501

Decrease in net assets:   
Pension payments (note 12)  (428,690)  (402,888)
Refund of contributions (note 12)  (137,512)  (106,666)
Administrative expenses (note 8)  (27,455)  (26,806)
Harmonized Sales Tax  (4,807)  (4,186)

 (598,464)  (540,546)

Increase (decrease) in net assets available for benefits  (169,128)  529,955
Net assets available for benefits, beginning of period  9,340,633  8,810,678

Net assets available for benefits, end of period  $       9,171,505  $       9,340,633

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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PUBLIC SERVICE PENSION PLAN 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ACCRUED BENEFIT OBLIGATION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 
WITH COMPARATIVE INFORMATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017    

Year ended 
31 December 

2018

Year ended 
31 December 

2017
(000s) (000s)

Actuarial present value of accrued benefit obligation,
beginning of period  $       9,736,884  $       9,428,014
Change in actuarial assumptions  -  -

Change in outstanding transaction allowance (note 10)  (46,000)  (20,000)

Interest accrued on benefits  570,642  552,376

Experience gain  (243,119)  -

Benefits accrued  293,825  286,267

Benefits paid  (566,202)  (509,773)

Actuarial present value of accrued benefit obligation,
end of period  $       9,746,030  $       9,736,884

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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PUBLIC SERVICE PENSION PLAN 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2018    

The Public Service Pension Plan (the “Plan”) was 

established on 1 April 1967 by the Public Service 

Pensions Act. Amendments to the legislation have 

been made over the years, including the introduction 

of the replacement Act in 1991, the Public Service 

Pensions Act, 1991 (the “Act”). In 2014, an agreement 

was reached between Government and the five 

largest participating unions to reform the Plan. This 

included benefit and contribution changes, the 

issuance of a $2.685 billion Promissory Note by 

Government to the Plan, and introduced a jointly 

trusteed governance structure, which was formally 

recognized under the Joint Sponsorship Agreement.

In accordance with the Joint Sponsorship Agreement, 

the Act established the Public Service Pension Plan 

Corporation (the “Corporation”) as the Administrator 

of the Registered Plan and Trustee of the Public 

Service Pension Plan Fund (the “Fund”) was created 

31 March 2015 under the authority of the Act when 

the assets of the Plan were separated from the 

Newfoundland and Labrador Pooled Pension Fund 

(the “NLPPF”). The Corporation officially changed its 

name to Provident10 as of August 2017.

Under the Joint Sponsorship Agreement, which 

contains a detailed Funding Policy, any future 

actuarial surpluses or deficits in the Plan funding 

will be shared equally between Government and 

members of the Plan. In accordance with the Act, the 

participating Employers’ current funding requirement 

is to match employee contributions for current 

service. Matching of contributions may also occur 

for certain other types of prior service, which may be 

purchased under contract.

1. Description of the Plan

A) GENERAL

The Plan is a contributory defined benefit 

pension plan covering full-time employees of 

the Province of Newfoundland and Labrador, 

the Legislature, various Crown corporations, 

agencies and commissions created by 

or under a statute of the Province, and 

Provident10.

The Plan is comprised of two components, 

a Registered Plan (registration number 

0525360), which provides registered 

pension benefits allowable under the Income 

Tax Act (Canada) (“Income Tax Act”), and 

a Supplementary Plan, which provides 

benefits in excess of the Income Tax Act 

maximum benefit limits. Provident10 oversees 

the Registered Plan, and these financial 

statements include only amounts that pertain 

to the Registered Plan. Amounts that pertain 

to the Supplementary Plan are included 

within the accounts of the Consolidated 

Revenue Fund of the Province.

The Plan is not subject to income tax, but 

is subject to indirect taxes including the 

Harmonized Sales Tax.

B) CONTRIBUTIONS

As of 1 January 2015, employee contributions 

are equal to 10.75% of the Canada Pension 

Plan (the “CPP”) basic exemption, plus 8.95% 

of the employee’s salary between the CPP 

basic exemption and the Year’s Maximum 

Pensionable Earnings (the “YMPE”) under 

the CPP, plus 11.85% of the employee’s salary 

in excess of the YMPE, up to the maximum 

allowed under the Income Tax Act. Amounts 

in excess of the maximum allowed are paid 

to the Supplementary Plan. Employers make 

matching contributions for current service.
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1. Description of the Plan 
(continued)

C) PENSION AMOUNTS

A pension is available from the Registered 

Plan based on the number of years of 

pensionable service times 2% of the 

member’s highest average earnings. When 

a retired member reaches age 65, this 

pension is reduced by 0.6% of the member’s 

highest average earnings up to the three-year 

average YMPE times years of pensionable 

service after 1 April 1967. The offset at age 65 

is limited to a maximum of 35 years of service.

For the period from April 1, 1993 to March 

31, 1996, certain participating employers 

were temporarily allowed to reduce their 

contributions to the Plan. In those cases, the 

accrual rate used to determine a member’s 

pension is reduced proportionately from the 

standard 2% per year of service.

The highest average earnings in respect of 

service for years earned up to 31 December 

2014 is the greater of:

i. the average of the member’s pensionable 

earnings during any of the five calendar 

years, prior to December 31, 2014, which 

yield the highest average; and

ii. the average of the member’s pensionable 

earnings during any of the six 12-month 

periods, prior to the date the member’s 

participation ceases, which yield the 

highest average.

For service earned after 31 December 2014, 

the highest average earnings is the average 

of a member’s pensionable earnings during 

any of the six 12-month periods, prior to the 

date the member’s participation ceases, 

which yield the highest average.

For seasonal employees, the averaging 

periods used in the determination of the 

highest average earnings are limited to either 

the five-year period prior to December 31, 2014 

or the six-year period immediately prior to the 

date the member’s participation ceases.

The pension payable from the Registered 

Plan shall not exceed the maximum 

allowable benefit as determined under 

the Income Tax Act. Where the calculated 

amount exceeds the maximum allowable 

benefit as determined under the Income Tax 

Act, a member will receive a pension from 

the Supplementary Plan. The total pension 

received from both the Registered Plan and 

the Supplementary Plan equals the amount 

calculated based on the number of years 

of pensionable service times 2% of the 

member’s highest average earnings, subject 

to the previously noted reduction at age 

65 and any reductions in the accrual rate 

applicable during the period from April 1, 

1993 to March 31, 1996.

D) RETIREMENT DATES

Employees who will meet the early retirement 

provisions that existed prior to 1 January 2015 

by 31 December 2019 or who have at least 30 

years of service by 31 December 2019 will be 

grandparented under the early retirement 

PUBLIC SERVICE PENSION PLAN 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2018    
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PUBLIC SERVICE PENSION PLAN 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2018    

1. Description of the Plan 
(continued)

D) RETIREMENT DATES (CONTINUED)

rules that existed prior to 1 January 2015. 

In this case, employees can retire with an 

unreduced pension at age 55 if they have at 

least 30 years of service, or at age 60 if they 

have at least five years of service.

Following 31 December 2019, employees 

will be eligible to retire with an unreduced 

pension at age 58 if they have at least 30 

years of service, age 60 if they have at least 

10 years of service, or at age 65 if they have 

at least five years of service.

Employees can also retire with a reduced 

pension in certain circumstances. During the 

period to 31 December 2019, employees who 

are age 50 with at least 30 years of service or 

who are age 55 and whose age plus service 

total at least 85 may retire with a reduction 

of 0.5% for each month prior to age 55 or 

60, respectively. After 31 December 2019, 

employees who are age 53 with at least 30 

years of service or who are age 58 and whose 

age plus service total at least 88 may retire 

with a reduction of 0.5% for each month prior 

to age 58 or 60, respectively. In any case, an 

employee who has reached age 55 with at 

least five years of service may retire with an 

actuarially reduced pension.

E) DISABILITY PENSIONS

A disability pension equal to the accrued 

pension is available on permanent incapacity 

at any age, provided the member has a 

minimum of five years pensionable service.

F) SURVIVOR PENSIONS

A survivor pension of 60% of the member’s 

accrued pension is paid to the surviving 

principal beneficiary (and on the surviving 

principal beneficiary’s death, to dependent 

children) following the death of a pensioner, 

a deferred pensioner or an employee with at 

least five years pensionable service.

G) PRE-RETIREMENT DEATH BENEFITS

Where an employee with at least five years 

pensionable service dies before receiving 

a pension and a survivor benefit is payable, 

the surviving principal beneficiary may elect 

to receive either the survivor benefit, or the 

greater of the commuted value of the survivor 

benefit and the commuted value of the 

employee’s pension entitlement.

Where an employee with at least five years 

pensionable service dies before receiving a 

pension and there is no surviving principal 

beneficiary, the commuted value of the 

employee’s pension entitlement is paid to the 

employee’s estate.

H) TERMINATION BENEFITS

On termination of employment, an employee 

may elect to receive a refund of the 

employee’s own contributions with interest if 

they have less than five years of pensionable 

service. If an employee has at least five years 

pensionable service, the employee may 

elect to receive either a deferred pension or 

commuted value transfer.
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PUBLIC SERVICE PENSION PLAN 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2018    

1. Description of the Plan 
(continued)

I) INDEXING

For persons in receipt of a pension or a 

survivor benefit as at 31 December 2014, 

each 1 October, the amount of a pension or 

survivor benefit paid to an individual who has 

reached the age of 65 will be adjusted by 

60% of the Consumer Price Index for Canada 

for the previous calendar year (as published 

by Statistics Canada), to a maximum of 1.2% of 

the annual pension or survivor benefit. For all 

others, pensions in respect of service that was 

earned up to 31 December 2014 will continue 

to be indexed in the same manner, but no 

guaranteed post-retirement indexing will be 

provided in respect of service credited in the 

Plan after 31 December 2014.

2. Basis of preparation

A) BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The financial statements are prepared in 

accordance with Canadian accounting 

standards for pension plans in Part IV of the 

Chartered Professional Accountants (CPA) 

Canada Handbook.

In selecting or changing accounting policies 

that do not relate to its investment portfolio 

or pension obligations, Canadian accounting 

standards for pension plans require the 

Plan to comply on a consistent basis with 

either International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) in Part I of the CPA Canada 

Handbook, or Accounting Standards for 

Private Enterprises (“ASPE”) in Part II of the 

Handbook. The Plan has chosen to comply on 

a consistent basis with IFRS.

This is the first set of the Plan’s annual 

financial statements in which IFRS 9 Financial 

Instruments has been applied. Changes to 

significant accounting policies are described 

in Note 3.

B) FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION 

CURRENCY

The financial statements are presented 

in thousands of Canadian dollars unless 

otherwise noted. Canadian dollars is the 

Plan’s functional currency.

C) USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The preparation of the financial statements 

requires management to make estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported 

amounts of assets and liabilities and 

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 

at the date of the financial statements 

and the reported amounts of revenue and 

expenses during the year. Significant items 

subject to such estimates and assumptions 

include the valuation and classification of 

investments, as well as assumptions used in 

the calculation of pension obligations. Actual 

results could differ from these estimates and 

the impact of any such differences will be 

recorded in future periods.

3. Significant accounting policies

A) CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Plan has adopted IFRS 9 – Financial 

Instruments, issued in July 2014 with a date 

of initial application of January 1, 2018.  

There was no measurement impact from  

the adoption.
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3. Significant accounting policies 
(continued)

A) CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED)

i. Recognition and initial measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities at 

fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”) 

are recognized in the statement of 

financial position on the trade date, which 

is the date on which the Plan becomes a 

party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at 

FVTPL are initially measured at fair value, 

with transaction costs recognized in profit 

or loss.

ii. Classification

Financial assets are required to be 

classified as measured at amortized cost, 

fair value through other comprehensive 

income or FVTPL according to the 

business model used for managing 

them and their contractual cash flow 

characteristics. Financial liabilities are 

classified as measured through amortized 

cost unless they are measured at FVTPL.

The Plan makes an assessment of the 

objective of a business model because 

this best reflects the way the business 

is managed and information is provided. 

Investments are managed, and their 

performance is evaluated on a fair value 

basis. As such, the Plan classifies all 

investments and derivative assets as 

FVTPL with changes in fair value being 

recognized in net investment income in 

the statement of changes in net assets 

available for benefits.

Financial assets at amortized cost 

include cash and cash equivalents, 

accrued investment income, outstanding 

transaction allowance, contributions 

receivable, receivable from pending 

trades, Harmonized Sales Tax receivable, 

receivable from Provident10, receivable 

from pending trades and Promissory note 

receivable. Financial liabilities at amortized 

cost include accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities, payable for pending trades, 

refunds payable and due to the Province of 

Newfoundland and Labrador.

iii. De-recognition

The Plan de-recognizes a financial asset 

when the contractual rights to the cash 

flows from the asset expire, or it transfers 

the rights to receive the contractual cash 

flows in a transaction in which substantially 

all the risks and rewards of ownership of 

the financial asset are transferred or in 

which the Plan neither transfers nor retains 

substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership and does not retain control of 

the financial asset.

On de-recognition of a financial asset, the 

difference between the carrying amount 

of the asset and consideration received is 

recognized in the statement of changes in 

net assets available for benefits as a net 

realized gain on sale of investments.

The Plan de-recognizes a financial liability 

when its contractual obligations are 

discharged, cancelled or expired.

The Plan considers all liabilities, except for 

derivative contracts payable, to be non-

derivative financial liabilities.
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3. Significant accounting policies 
(continued)

A) CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED)

iv. Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are 

recognized initially at fair value and 

attributable transaction costs are 

recognized in the statement of changes 

in net assets available for benefits as 

incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

derivatives are measured at fair value, and 

all changes are recognized immediately 

in the statement of changes in net assets 

available for benefits.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset 

and the net amount presented in the 

statement of net assets available for 

benefits when, and only when, the Plan 

has a legal right to offset the amounts and 

it intends either to settle on a net basis or 

to realize the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously. 

B) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

As allowed under IFRS 13, if an asset or a 

liability measured at fair value has a bid and 

an ask price, the price within the bid-ask 

spread that is the most representative of fair 

value in the circumstances shall be used to 

measure fair value.

When available, the Plan measures the fair 

value of an instrument using quoted prices in 

an active market for that instrument. A market 

is regarded as active if quoted prices are 

readily and regularly available and represent 

actual and regularly occurring market 

transactions on an arm’s-length basis.

If a market for a financial instrument is not 

active, then the Plan establishes fair value using 

a valuation technique. Valuation techniques 

include using recent arm’s-length transactions 

between knowledgeable, willing parties (if 

available); reference to the current fair value 

of other instruments that are substantially the 

same; and discounted cash flow analyses.

All changes in fair value, other than interest 

and dividend income, and expense, are 

recognized in the statement of changes in 

net assets available for benefits as part of the 

change in net unrealized gains. 

Fair values of investments are determined 

as follows:

Short-term notes, treasury bills and term 

deposits maturing within a year, and cash held 

by investment managers are stated at cost, 

which together with accrued interest income 

approximates fair value given the short-term 

nature of these investments.

Bonds and debentures are valued at the 

closing mid-price at the valuation date.

Publicly traded equities are valued at year-

end quoted closing prices where available. 

Where quoted prices are not available on 

the valuation date, estimated fair values are 

calculated using the last trade date.

The Plan investments in real estate are 

held by its wholly-owned subsidiary, 

Newvest Realty Corporation (“Newvest”). 

All real properties have been subject to 

valuations by qualified independent property 

appraisers using market-based assumptions 

in accordance with recognized valuation 

techniques. The valuation techniques used 

include the direct capitalized net operation 
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3. Significant accounting policies 
(continued)

B) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

income method and the discounted cash 

flow method unless the property was 

acquired in the year and only then would 

the cost be applied as the fair value. 

Recent real estate transactions with similar 

characteristics and location to the assets are 

also considered. The direct capitalization 

income method applies a capitalization rate 

of property’s stabilized net operating income 

which incorporates allowances for vacancy, 

management fees and structural reserves for 

capital expenditures for the property.

Private equity and infrastructure investments 

are held through ownership in limited 

partnership arrangements. Fair value is 

determined by the General Partner, using the 

most recent financial information obtained 

from the underlying investments and/or 

forecasts of future financial performance 

and then applying appropriate valuation 

techniques such as market comparables 

and/or discounted cash flows.

Pooled funds are valued at the unit values 

supplied by the pooled fund administrator 

which represent the Plan’s proportionate 

share of underlying net assets at fair values.

Investments in derivative financial 

instruments, including futures, forwards and 

option contracts, are valued at year-end 

quoted market prices where available. Where 

quoted prices are not available, values are 

determined using pricing models, which take 

into account current market and contractual 

prices of the underlying instruments, as well 

as time value and yield curve or volatility 

factors underlying the positions. Unrealized 

gains and losses on derivative financial 

instruments, net of premiums paid or 

received on options contracts, are included 

in derivative contracts investments.

The Plan holds private investments, such as 

non-traded pooled or closed funds, limited 

partnership interests, private placement 

bonds or equity investments. Private 

investment fund valuations are initially 

provided by the external fund managers, 

usually on a three-month lagging basis. Such 

valuations are then adjusted to reflect cash 

contributions and cash distributions between 

the valuation date and the reporting date, 

including marking to market any publicly-

traded securities held by the underlying 

private investment.

C) INVESTMENT INCOME

Investment income is recorded on an accrual 

basis and includes interest income, dividends 

and other income.

Dividend income is recognized as of the date 

of record.

The net realized gain on sale of investments 

is the difference between proceeds received 

and the average cost of investments sold.

D) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Transactions denominated in foreign 

currencies are translated into Canadian 

dollars at the rates of exchange prevailing 

on the dates of the transactions. Monetary 

assets and liabilities denominated in 

foreign currencies at the reporting date are 

retranslated into Canadian dollars at the 

exchange rate at that date. 
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3. Significant accounting policies 
(continued)

D) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION 

(CONTINUED)

Foreign currency differences arising on 

retranslation are recognized in the statement 

of changes in net assets available for 

benefits as a change in the market value of 

the investment.

E) CONTRIBUTIONS

Contributions from employers and members 

due to the Plan at the end of the year are 

recorded on an accrual basis. Service 

purchases that include, but are not limited 

to leaves of absence, periods of reduced 

accrual and transfer from other pension 

plans are recorded and service is credited 

when the signed contract to purchase is 

received.

F) BENEFITS

Benefit payments to retired members are 

recorded as they are due and paid, twice 

monthly. Commuted value payments and 

transfers to other pension plans are recorded 

when paid. Other refunds are recorded when 

authorized. Accrued benefits for members 

are recorded as part of the accrued pension 

obligation.

G) RECEIVABLE/PAYABLE FOR PENDING 

TRADES

For securities transactions, the fair value of 

receivable from pending trades and payable 

for pending trades approximate their carrying 

amounts due to their short-term nature.

H) ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses are incurred 

for direct pension administration and 

external investment management and 

are recorded on an accrual basis. Direct 

pension administration expenses represent 

expenses to provide direct services to 

Plan members and employers and include 

actuarial consulting, disability pension 

adjudication and professional fees. External 

investment management expenses represent 

payments to the investment managers. The 

administrative expenses include charges 

from the Corporation as well as charges 

from the Province under a service level 

agreement between the Corporation and the 

Province. Under the service level agreement, 

charges from the Province are allocated to 

the pension plans it administers on a pro-rata 

basis, based on the balance of the assets 

in the individual plans as a percentage 

of the total value of the combined plans. 

An allocation of salaries, overhead and 

administrative expenses is charged on a cost 

recovery basis.

I) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on 

hand, balances with banks and investment 

managers, and highly liquid financial assets 

with maturities of three months or less that 

are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 

in their fair value and are used by the Plan in 

the management of short-term commitments.
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4. Investments and derivatives

A) INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

The fair value of investments relative to the cost is summarized in the following table:

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Assets 
(000s) % Cost 

(000s)
Assets 
(000s) % Cost 

(000s)

Fixed income  2,520,431 39.0 2,570,180  2,315,035 35.4 2,326,944

Equities

 Canadian  1,115,800 17.3 1,108,757  1,369,534 20.9 1,196,561
 US  1,211,400 18.7 1,104,636  1,317,666 20.1 1,117,606
 Global  767,046 11.8 811,312  829,475 12.6 751,726
Private equity  185,631 2.9 166,035  51,283 0.8 45,791
Infrastructure
 Private  183,537 2.8 177,101  89,965 1.4 91,471
 Listed  133,187 2.1 141,472  370,034 5.7 362,069
Real estate  346,594 5.4 297,909  202,318 3.1 172,535
Forwards  (421) - -  (528) - -
Futures  274 - -  (284) - -
Total $6,463,479 100.0 $6,377,402 $6,544,498 100.0 $6,064,703

B) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Financial instruments are classified according to the following fair value hierarchy that reflects  

the significance of inputs used in determining the fair values.

Level 1 - unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset  

or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 - inputs for assets and liabilities that are not based on observable market data. 
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4. Investments and derivatives (continued)

B) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

Investments based on the valuation level within the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

As at 31 December 2018 Level 1 
(000s)

Level 2 
(000s)

Level 3 
(000s)

Total 
(000s)

Fixed income  -  2,520,431  -  2,520,431
Equities
 Canadian  1,095,655  20,145  -  1,115,800

 US  1,210,586  814  -  1,211,400

 Global  767,046  -  -  767,046

Private equity  -  -  185,631  185,631
Infrastructure
 Private  -  -  183,537  183,537

 Listed  -  133,187  -  133,187
Real estate  -  -  346,594  346,594
Forwards  (421)  -  -  (421)
Futures  274  -  -  274

$3,073,140 $2,674,577 $ 715,762 $ 6,463,479

As at 31 December 2017 Level 1 
(000s)

Level 2 
(000s)

Level 3 
(000s)

Total 
(000s)

Fixed income  -  2,315,035  -  2,315,035
Equities
 Canadian  1,348,488  21,046  -  1,369,534

 US  1,316,918  748  -  1,317,666

 Global  829,475  -  -  829,475

Private equity  -  -  51,283  51,283
Infrastructure
 Private  -  -  89,965  89,965

 Listed  -  370,034  -  370,034
Real estate  -  -  202,318  202,318
Forwards  (528)  -  -  (528)
Futures  (284)  -  -  (284)

$3,494,069 $2,706,863 $ 343,566 $ 6,544,498

There have been no transfers between levels in any of the periods presented.
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4. Investments and derivatives (continued)

B) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

The following table reconciles the Plan’s level 3 fair value measurements from period to period: 

 (000s)
Fair value, 31 December 2016 $ 270,351
Acquisitions  64,160
Transfer in  (4,931)
Realized gain/loss  (1,813)
Change in unrealized gain/loss on assets sold  (800)
Change in unrealized gain/loss on assets held  16,599
Fair value, 31 December 2017 $ 343,566
Fair value, 31 December 2017 $ 343,566
Acquisitions  342,852
Dispositions  (9,507)
Realized gain/loss  (2,099)
Change in unrealized gain/loss on assets sold  (1,790)
Change in unrealized gain/loss on assets held  42,740
Fair value, 31 December 2018 $ 715,762 
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4. Investments and derivatives (continued)

B) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

Level 3 financial instruments are valued using various methods. Real estate holdings are valued based 

on discounted cash flow analysis and direct capitalization income. The fair value of private equity 

and infrastructure holdings is determined by the General Partner using accepted industry valuation 

techniques which include recent arm’s length market transactions, earnings multiples of comparable 

publicly-traded companies and discounted cash flow analysis.

The following tables presents information about significant unobservable inputs used at 31 December 

2018 in measuring financial instruments categorized as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy:

PUBLIC SERVICE PENSION PLAN 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2018    

Description
Fair Value at
31 Dec 2018

(000s)
Valuation  
technique

Unobservable 
inputs

Real estate $        346,594 Discounted cash flow analysis and 
direct capitalization income method

Capitalization 
rates

Private equity $        185,631
Recent arm’s length market 
transactions, earnings multiples of 
comparable publicly-traded companies 
and discounted cash flow analysis.

Information 
not available

Private infrastructure $        183,537
Recent arm’s length market 
transactions, earnings multiples of 
comparable publicly-traded companies 
and discounted cash flow analysis.

Information 
not available

2018 
(000s)

2017 
(000s)

Real estate
Minimum capitalization rate 3.86% 4.13%
Maximum capitalization rate 8.24% 11.27%
Increase of 25 basis points $(22,029) 100. $(12,588)
Decrease of 25 basis points  $ 24,367  $13,830

The following analysis illustrates the sensitivity of the Level 3 valuations to reasonably possible 

capitalization rate assumptions for real estate properties where reasonable possible alternative 

assumptions would change the fair value significantly.
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4. Investments and derivatives 
(continued)

C) DERIVATIVES

Derivatives are financial contracts, the 

value of which is derived from the value of 

underlying assets or interest or exchange 

rates. Derivatives provide flexibility in 

implementing investment strategies. The 

Plan uses such contracts to enhance 

investment returns and for managing 

exposure to foreign currency volatility.

Notional amounts of derivative contracts are 

the contract amounts used to calculate the 

cash flow to be exchanged. They represent 

the contractual amounts to which a rate or 

price is applied for computing the cash to 

be paid or received. Notional amounts are 

the basis on which the returns from and 

fair value of the contracts are determined. 

They are not recorded as financial assets or 

liabilities on the annual statement of financial 

position and change in net assets available 

for benefits. They are a common measure of 

volume of outstanding transactions but do 

not represent credit or market risk exposure. 

The aggregate notional amounts and fair 

value of derivative contracts can fluctuate 

significantly.

Derivative contracts transacted on either 

regulated exchange market or in the over 

the counter market directly between two 

counterparts include the following:

i. Futures

Futures are transacted in standard 

amounts on regulated exchanges and are 

subject to daily cash management.

Futures contracts are specifically used 

for reducing the cash exposure in the 

operating accounts. This is accomplished 

by converting cash exposure to capital 

markets exposure in accordance with the 

Plan’s long-term asset mix.

ii. Currency forwards

Currency forwards are contractual 

obligations to exchange one currency for 

another at a specified price or settlement 

at a predetermined future date. Forward 

contracts are used to manage the 

currency exposure of investments held in 

foreign currencies. The notional amount 

of a currency forward represents the 

contracted amount purchased or sold for 

settlement at a future date. The fair value 

is determined by the difference between 

the market value and the notional value 

upon settlement.

The following table sets out the notional 

values of the Plans’ derivatives and their 

related assets and liabilities at 31 December:

 

Notional 
amount 

(000s)

Fair value 
asset 
(000s)

Fair value 
liability 

(000s)

Fair value 
net 

(000s)
31 December 2018 Currency forwards $ 28,340 $ 713 $ (1,134) $ (421)

31 December 2017 Currency forwards  40,766  (730)  202  (528)
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4. Investments and derivatives 
(continued)

D) SECURITIES LENDING

The Plan participates in a securities lending 

program whereby it lends securities to 

enhance portfolio returns. The securities 

lending program requires collateral in cash, 

high-quality debt instruments, or securities. 

Collateral transactions are conducted 

under terms that are usual and customary 

in standard securities lending programs. In 

the absence of an event of default, the same 

securities or equivalent securities must be 

returned to the counterparty at the end of 

the contract.

The fair values of the allocated securities and 

collateral associated with the securities lending 

program as at 31 December are as follows:

2018 
(000s)

2017 
(000s)

Securities lent $                979,937 $            1,010,148
Securities contractually receivable 1,025,550 1,062,907 

5. Investment income (loss)

A) Investment income (loss) is as follows

2018 
(000s)

2017 
(000s)

Dividend income $ 96,564 $ 111,862
Interest income  78,936  61,989
Security lending income  2,468  2,677
Commission recapture income  10  78

 177,978  176,606

Gain on sale of investments  182,152  133,671
Current period change in market value  (391,879)  286,333

$ (31,749) $ 596,610
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5. Investment income (loss) (continued)

B) Investment income (loss) by asset mix for the period ended 31 December is as follows

Investment
income

Gain (Loss)
on sale of

investments

Current period
change in

market value
of investments

2018
Total

2017
Total

(000s) (000s) (000s) (000s) (000s)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,474 $ 1,533 $ 1,839 $ 6,846 $ 2,120
Fixed income  77,708  (10,264)  (37,840)  29,604  76,788
Equities
 Canadian  33,476  21,519  (165,930)  (110,935)  102,217
 US  18,033  137,049  (93,296)  61,786  205,306
 Global  21,247  31,429  (122,015)  (69,339)  153,398
Private equity  -  168  14,104  14,272  5,492
Infrastructure
 Private  -  -  7,942  7,942  (1,861)
 Listed  14,509  4,894  (16,250)  3,153  47,101
Real estate  9,531  (2,266)  18,902  26,167  16,178
Forwards  -  (460)  107  (353)  (2,295)
Futures  -  (1,450)  558  (892)  (7,834)

Total $ 177,978 $ 182,152 $ (391,879) $ (31,749) $ 596,610

Net loss from derivatives, including realized and unrealized gains or losses is $1.2 million, while 

income from other assets, excluding dividend and interest income is $ 2.7 million.
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6. Investment risk management
Risk management relates to the understanding 

and active management of risks associated with 

all areas of the business and the associated 

operating environment. The use of financial 

instruments exposes the Plan to interest rate risk, 

market price risk, credit risk, foreign currency 

risk and liquidity risk. The Plan’s Statement of 

Investment Policies and Procedures (SIP&P) 

outlines policies and operating procedures that 

establish a diversified asset mix consisting of 

investments in equity, fixed income, real estate, 

infrastructure and private equity. The asset mix 

policy requires diversification of investments 

within these categories and set limits on the 

size of exposure to individual investment and 

counterparties. Trustee oversight, procedures, 

and compliance functions are incorporated into 

Plan processes to achieve consistent controls 

and mitigate operational risk.

A) INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest rate risk refers to the fact that the 

Plan’s financial position will change with 

market interest rate changes, as fixed income 

securities are sensitive to changes in nominal 

interest rates. Interest rate risk is inherent in 

the management of a pension plan due to 

prolonged timing differences between cash 

flows related to the Plan’s assets and cash 

flows related to the Plan’s liabilities.

The fair value of the Plan is affected by 

short term changes in nominal interest 

rates. Pension liabilities are exposed to the 

long-term expectation of rate of return on 

the investments, as well as expectations of 

inflation and salary escalation.

The term to maturity classifications of public 

market interest-bearing investments, based 

upon the contractual maturity of these 

securities, are as follows:

2018 
(%)

2017 
(%)

Within 1 year 8.5 6.0
Short (1 - 5 years) 29.3 30.2
Medium (5 - 10 years) 31.5 33.4
Long (10+ years) 30.7 30.4

100.0 100.0

Assuming a parallel change in the long and short-term yields, a 1% increase in interest rates would have 

the effect of decreasing the fair value of the Plan’s fixed income investments by approximately $162.0 

million or 7.12% (2017 - $164.7 million or 7.09%). A 1% decrease in interest rates would have resulted in an 

equal but opposite effect to the amounts shown.
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6. Investment risk management 
(continued)

B) MARKET PRICE RISK

Market price risk is the risk of fluctuation in 

market values of investments from influences 

specific to a particular investment or from 

influences on the market as a whole. The 

Plan is exposed to changes in equity prices 

in Canadian and global markets. Equities 

comprise 49.9% of the market value of the 

Plan’s total investments. Equity investments 

are diversified by geography, industry type and 

corporate entity. If equity market indices (S&P/

TSX and MSCI ACWI) declined by 10%, and all 

other variables are held constant, the potential 

loss to the Plan would be approximately $322.7 

million, or 4.99% of total investment assets 

(2017 - $388.7 million or 5.94%).

C) CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk that the issuer of a 

debt security or counterparty to a contract 

is unable to fulfill its financial obligation and 

causes the other party to incur a loss.

Fixed Income portfolio 

Credit risk in the fixed income portfolio is 

monitored by evaluating the Plan’s exposure 

in two ways: by sector (government versus 

corporate) and by credit quality.

The Plan is exposed to credit risk from the 

following interest earning investments, 

classified by sector as follows:

2018 
(%)

2017 
(%)

Federal government 20.9 23.0
Provincial government 23.4 24.8
Municipal government 1.4 1.5
Corporate 51.4 47.4
Other 2.9 3.3

100.0 100.0

The Plan’s concentration risk by credit rating as at 31 December is as follows:

2018 
(%)

2017 
(%)

AAA to A- 68.0 65.5
BBB to BBB- 18.6 19.8
BB+ and below 5.9 6.5
Not rated 7.5 8.2

Total      100.0 100.0
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6. Investment risk management 
(continued)

C) CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)

Real estate 

Real estate investment managers manage 

risk through monthly monitoring of tenant 

performance and arrears. Tenant exposure 

is managed by limiting concentration to a 

specific economic sector and geographic area. 

Transactions that involve assuming a new 

tenant exposure are vetted by an appropriate 

due diligence and approval process.

Securities lending 

The Plan lends securities for a fee to 

approved borrowers. High quality collateral 

is provided by borrowers to alleviate 

the credit risk. Regular reporting of the 

securities lending program ensure that its 

various components are continuously  

being monitored.

D) FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Foreign currency exposure arises through 

holdings of securities and other investments 

in non-Canadian assets. Fluctuations in the 

relative value of the Canadian dollar against 

these foreign currencies can result in a positive 

or a negative effect on the fair value of the 

investments. The Plan’s exposure to foreign 

currencies provides diversification benefits that 

should be assessed by asset class. Foreign 

currency positions arising from investments in 

fixed income, real estate or infrastructure are 

generally hedged, while investments in global 

public and private equity generally are not 

hedged. In addition, the investment managers 

of the Plan are given flexibility through their 

mandate to periodically hedge currency for 

opportunistic or defensive purposes.

The Plan’s currency exposure from public 

market investment assets is summarized  

in the following table:

PUBLIC SERVICE PENSION PLAN 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2018    

2018 
(%)

2017 
(%)

Canadian Dollar 55.5 53.8
US Dollar 30.0 30.6
Other Asia/Pacific currencies 4.1 3.3
Euro 4.1 4.4
British Pound 2.3 2.9
Japanese Yen 1.9 1.8
Other European currencies 1.4 2.5
Other currencies * 0.7 0.7
Total 100.0 100.0

A 10% increase in the value of the Canadian 

dollar in relation to all other foreign currencies, 

with all other variables held constant, would 

result in an unrealized investment loss of $250.1 

million, or 4.45% of public market investment 

assets (2017 - $291.6 million or 4.62%). A 

reduction in the value of the Canadian dollar of 

the same amount in relation to all other foreign 

currencies would result in an equal but opposite 

effect to the amounts shown.

* Other currencies include those from regions within Africa, the Middle East and Latin America
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6. Investment risk management 
(continued)

E) LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Plan is unable 

to meet its financial obligations as they 

come due. Cash obligations are fulfilled from 

contributions to the Plan, cash income of the 

Plan and planned dispositions of Plan assets 

as required. Cash requirements of the Plan are 

reviewed on an ongoing basis to provide for 

the orderly availability of resources to meet 

the financial obligations. In general, the Plan’s 

investments in cash and cash equivalents, debt 

and public equities are expected to be highly 

liquid and are invested in securities that are 

actively traded. Investments in private equity, 

infrastructure and real estate are considered 

highly illiquid due to their private nature and 

longer term to maturity.

7. Capital management
The capital of the Plan is defined as the net 

assets available for benefits. The Plan was 

established as a vehicle to invest employee 

and employer pension plan contributions with 

a long-term goal to achieve investment returns. 

The primary investment objective of the Plan is 

to meet its long-term funding requirements and 

pension payment obligations, and the secondary 

objective is to manage the volatility of  the Plan’s 

funded ratio.

The Plan is jointly sponsored by the Government 

of Newfoundland and Labrador and the five 

unions representing plan members. The 

Corporation’s Board of Directors, as Trustee 

of the Plan, is responsible to review, monitor, 

administer and supervise all investment activities 

of the Plan.

Portfolio management 

The Plan utilizes external investment 

management firms to invest the assets of the 

Plan. Each investment manager is selected 

through a disciplined process to ensure 

alignment with the investment structure and 

objectives of the Plan. In addition, external 

custodial and investment counseling advisory 

firms are engaged to support Plan management.

Asset mix policy 

The long-term asset mix policy of the Plan is  

as follows:

The asset mix policy was adopted after 

evaluating the potential impact of alternative 

policies on the ability to achieve sufficient 

asset growth on a risk-controlled basis. Factors 

evaluated before adopting the asset mix policy 

included the Plan’s going-concern funded ratio, 

demographics, cash-flow requirements, actuarial 

assumptions, prospective benefit improvements 

and liquidity requirements.

There was an approved change to the asset mix 

subsequent to year end, as disclosed in Note 16.

Equities

Canadian Equity 20%

Global Equities 25%

Global Private Equity 5%

Fixed Income

Canadian Core 10%

Canadian Core Plus 20%

Global Credit 5%

Commercial Mortgages 5%

Real Assets

Canadian Real Estate 5%

Global Infrastructure 5%
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8. Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses include direct expenses incurred by the Plan, and administrative costs incurred by 

the Corporation and billed to the Plan. Administrative costs were as follows:

9. Accrued benefit obligation
The actuarial present value of the accrued 

benefit obligation is an estimate of the value of 

Plan benefits accrued to date for all active and 

inactive members including pensioners and 

survivors. As the experience of the Plan unfolds, 

and as underlying conditions change over time, 

the measured value of these benefits may 

change materially.

The Plan uses the triennial actuarial funding 

valuation as the basis for measuring the accrued 

benefit obligation, using various economic 

and demographic assumptions and based 

on membership data as at the valuation date. 

Extrapolations of the Plan’s funding valuation 

are conducted annually to estimate the accrued 

benefit obligation. The most recent funding 

valuation was conducted at 31 December 2018.

The actuarial valuation calculates liabilities 

for each member on the basis of service 

earned to date and the employee’s projected 

highest average salary at the expected date of 

retirement, or on the pension in pay, for retired 

members and survivors.

Salaries are assumed to increase over the long-

term based on an assumed real rate increase  

(i.e. to increase in excess of the assumed  

inflation rate).

Demographic assumptions are used to estimate 

when future benefits are payable to members 

and beneficiaries, including assumptions about 

mortality rates, termination rates, and patterns 

of early retirement. Each of these assumptions 

is updated periodically, based on a review of the 

experience of the Plan and on the expectations 

of future trends.

The major economic and demographic assumptions 

used in the 2018 valuation have not changed from 

those used in the 2017 extrapolation.

2018 2017
(000s) (000s)

Direct expenses:
Investment management fees $ 17,592 $ 16,916
Custodian and transaction fees 825 875
Investment consulting fees 292 217
Actuarial consulting fees 339 307
Other direct expenses 177 101

19,225 18,416

Charges from Plan Administrator, Provident10 8,230 8,390
$ 27,455 $ 26,806
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9. Accrued benefit obligation (continued)

As of 31 December 2018 As of 31 December 2017

Inflation 2.25% per annum 2.25% per annum

Post-retirement indexing
(payable from age 65)

1.00% per annum 1.00% per annum

Salary escalation 3.75% per annum 3.75% per annum

Total rate of return on assets
(i.e. Discount Rate)

6.00% per annum 6.00% per annum

Year’s Maximum Pensionable
Earnings (as defined under the
Canada Pension Plan)

3.00% per annum 3.00% per annum

Retirement rates For members who are
grandparented or who qualify for
early unreduced retirement by
31 December 2019:

 » 50% at earliest age they are 
entitled to unreduced pension.

 » The remainder at their normal 
retirement age (the earlier of 65 
or 55 with 35 years of service).

For all other members:

 » 57.5% at the earliest age they are 
entitled to unreduced pension.

 » The remainder at normal 
retirement age (the earlier of 65 or 
age 58 with 35 years of service).

Members who have already
reached early unreduced retirement 
age are assumed to retire at their 
normal retirement age.

For members who are 
grandparented or who qualify for 
early unreduced retirement by 31 
December 2019:

 » 50% at earliest age they are 
entitled to unreduced pension.

 » The remainder at their normal 
retirement age (the earlier of 65 
or 55 with 35 years of service).

For all other members:

 » 57.5% at the earliest age they are 
entitled to unreduced pension.

 » The remainder at normal 
retirement age (the earlier of 65 or 
age 58 with 35 years of service).

Members who have already 
reached early unreduced retirement 
age are assumed to retire at their 
normal retirement age.

Mortality rates CPM RPM 2014 Public 
(Sex Distinct)

CPM Improvement Scale B

Size adjustment factors of 1.08 
for males and 1.01 for females

CPM RPM 2014 Public 
(Sex Distinct)

CPM Improvement Scale B

Size adjustment factors of 1.08 
for males and 1.01 for females
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10. Outstanding transaction allowance
As of 31 December 2018, there were 

approximately 1,364 outstanding requests 

unprocessed (2017 - 2,854). The impact of these 

unprocessed requests has been estimated by the 

Plan’s actuary based on the history of requests 

processed and taking into consideration the 

type of the outstanding requests. The Plan has 

recorded an estimated increase in the accrued 

benefit obligation of $44 million (2017 - $90 

million) and a related receivable of $35 million 

(2017 - $75 million) representing assets which 

would be transferred to the Plan for pension 

buy back and transfers in from the Government 

Money Purchase Pension Plan or other reciprocal 

arrangements. Actual results may differ from 

these estimates.

PUBLIC SERVICE PENSION PLAN 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2018    

11. Contributions

12. Pension payments

2018 2017
(000s) (000s)

Employee:
Current service $ 162,089 $ 163,378
Past service 5,712 4,104
Reciprocal transfers 21,073 16,666

$ 188,874 $ 184,148
2018 2017

(000s) (000s)
Employer:

Current service $ 161,889 $ 163,046
Past service 2,174 1,293

$  164,063 $ 164,339

2018 2017
(000s) (000s)

Retirement benefit payments $ 400,951 $ 376,024
Disability benefit payments 27,739 26,864

$ 428,690 $ 402,888

REFUND OF CONTRIBUTIONS

2018 2017
(000s) (000s)

Termination benefit payments $ 126,652 $ 89,724
Transfers to other pension funds 5,564 9,184
Death benefit payments 5,296 7,758

$  137,512 $ 106,666

2018 ANNUAL REPORT76



PUBLIC SERVICE PENSION PLAN 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2018    

13. Promissory note
In March 2015, the Province issued a promissory 

note for $2.685 billion to be paid over 30 years 

in quarterly installments of $47 million (principal 

and interest) to fund the previous Plan’s deficit. 

The promissory note is recorded at the present 

value of the residual payments, discounted at 

6%, and is owing from the Corporation to the 

Plan on the same terms. The payments will be 

made, regardless of the funded status of the 

Plan. As at 31 December 2018, the balance 

receivable is $2.499 billion (2017 - $2.539 billion). 

Principal repayments of the promissory note 

by the Province to the Corporation and by the 

Corporation to the Plan over the next five years 

(in thousands) are as follows:

2019 $42,243 

2020 $44,777 

2021 $47,464 

2022 $50,312 

2023 $53,331

14. Related party transactions

A) FIXED INCOME INVESTMENTS

The following related party investments were held by the Plan as at 31 December:

Description
Cost

2018 
Market 

Value Cost

2017 
Market 

Value
(000s) (000s) (000s) (000s)

Province of Newfoundland and
Labrador Debentures - Series
maturing 17 October 2046 $ 1,964 $ 2,009 $ 1,964 $ 2,106
Province of Newfoundland and
Labrador Debentures - Series
maturing 17 October 2033 1,265 1,139 1,265 1,179

$ 3,229 $ 3,148 $ 3,229 $ 3,285

B) REAL ESTATE INVESTMENTS

The Plan manages its real estate through 

Newvest Realty Corporation, a wholly-owned 

subsidiary incorporated under the provisions 

of the Canada Corporations Act. It is also 

registered under the Corporations Act of the 

Province of Newfoundland and Labrador. All 

of the shares of Newvest Realty Corporation 

are held by the Plan. The Plan purchased the 

remaining shares from the Teachers Pension 

Plan in June 2018.

C) PRIVATE EQUITY AND PRIVATE 

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS

The Plan manages its private equity (and 

private infrastructure) investments through 

PSPP Neptune Corporation, a wholly-owned 

subsidiary incorporated under the provisions 

of the Canada Corporations Act. It is also 

registered under the Corporations Act of the 

Province of Newfoundland and Labrador. All of 

the shares of PSPP Neptune Corporation are 

held by the Plan.
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14. Related party transactions (continued)

D) PLAN ADMINISTRATION

The Corporation manages the Plan on a cost 

recovery basis. The cost of the services in 

2018 totalled $8.2 million (2017 - $8.4 million) 

and included certain direct expenses as well 

as costs charged to the Corporation by the 

Province including administrative services 

under the Service Level Agreement, and 

services for disbursement of pension payments 

and refund of contributions. 

15. Commitments
The Plan has committed to invest in certain 

private equity and infrastructure funds which 

may be funded in accordance with agreed upon 

conditions over the next several years. As at 

31 December 2018, the unfunded portion of 

these commitments totalled $727 million (2017 - 

$934 million). This investment is made through 

PSPP Neptune Corporation, a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of the Plan.

In addition, the Plan has committed to invest in 

commercial mortgages which may be funded 

upon conditions over the next several years. As 

at 31 December 2018, the unfunded portion of 

these commitments totalled $104 million (2017 - 

$325 million). This investment is made through 

Greystone Mortgage Fund.

16. Subsequent Events

A) ASSET MIX CHANGES

Changes to the long-term asset mix policy 

were recommended by the Board in December 

2018 and approved by the Sponsor Body 

subsequent to year end in January 2019. The 

new asset mix is as follows:

Equities
Canadian Equity    10%
Global Equities    10%

Global Low Volatility   10%
Global Small Cap   5%
Emerging Markets   5%
Private Equity    5%

Fixed Income
Canadian Core-Plus Bonds  15%
Commercial Mortgages   5%
Emerging Market Debt   5%
Multi Asset Credit   5%
Private Debt    5%

Real Assets
Real Estate    7.5%
Global Infrastructure   7.5%

Absolute Return

Hedge Funds    5%

B) PLAN TEXT CHANGES

Subsequent to year end, on March 19, 2019, 

Bill 56, which will repeal and replace the 

Public Service Pensions Act, 1991, received 

first reading in the House of Assembly. 

Specifically, the Bill, an Act respecting 

a pension plan for employees of the 

government of the province and others, will:

 » continue the Public Service Pension Plan 
Corporation, the Public Service Pension 
Plan, the Public Service Pension Plan Fund 
and the Public Service Supplementary Plan 
Account;

 » prescribe government’s obligations to the 
pension plan and supplementary account;

 » prescribe the obligations of employers to 
the pension plan; and 

 » provide for Provident10 as the 
Administrator of the Public Service Pension 
Plan and the Trustee of the Public Service 

Pension Plan Fund.

The Bill received royal assent on April 2, 2019.

17. Comparative information
Certain 2017 comparative information has been 

reclassified to conform to the financial statement 

presentation adopted for the current year.
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Contact Us
TO LEARN MORE ABOUT PROVIDENT10 AND THE PSPP,  

PLEASE VISIT PROVIDENT10.COM.

WE CAN BE CONTACTED VIA EMAIL, TELEPHONE,  

OR MAIL USING THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION:

General enquiries: info@provident10.com 

Pension enquiries: pensions@provident10.com 

Phone: 1.709.701.3355 or 1.844.247.1237 

Mail: 15 International Place, Suite 200, St. John’s, NL A1A 0L4

In respect of the environment, we’ve printed limited copies of this document.  

You can find a link to the full report on our website.
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